
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS 
BOARD OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 

HEARING COMMITTEE NUMBER TWELVE 

In the Matter of: : 
: 

JEFFREY B. CLARK, : 
: Board Docket No. 22-BD-039 

Respondent.  : Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-D193 
: 

A Member of the Bar of the District : 
Of Columbia Court of Appeals  : 
(Bar Registration Number 455315) : 

LODGED RESPONDENT’S MOTION TO DISREGARD ODC AFFIDAVIT AS LEGALLY 
DEFICIENT AND THUS IRRELEVANT 

1. The Chair of Hearing Committee Twelve issued an Order on the morning of

July 12, 2023 concerning Respondent Jeffrey B. Clark’s Motion to Vacate Orders and 

Motion for Reconsideration. In that Order, the Chair held that the Motion to Vacate 

Orders was under advisement pending receipt of an “affidavit filed by Disciplinary 

Counsel identifying the Clerk’s Office employee referenced in Disciplinary Counsel’s 

response, the employee’s authority to speak on behalf of the Clerk’s Office, and setting 

forth the specifics of the dialogue that was summarized in Disciplinary Counsel’s 

Motion.” July 12 Order at 2. The Order also postponed the pre-hearing conference that 

had been set for 1:00 PM yesterday. 

2. The Office of Disciplinary Counsel (“ODC”) has now submitted an affidavit by

Theodore (Jack) Metzler of ODC in an attempt to meet the requirements of the Chair’s 

July 12 Order and of 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c) (“Affidavit”). The Affidavit, however, cannot 
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possibly demonstrate compliance with Section 1447(c) and indeed ODC makes no 

attempt to assert that it does. ODC even includes a concluding proviso paragraph 

wherein ODC recognizes the legal shortcomings of its own Affidavit. 

3. The Affidavit recounts a sequence of sworn events that begin on July 5, 2023 and 

end yesterday, July 12, 2023. The key event that occurred most recently involves a 

supervisor in the U.S. District Court Clerk’s Office named Simone Logan. To explain the 

legal defects in the Affidavit, we begin there. 

4. Ms. Logan is not an Article III Judge. She thus cannot construe Section 1447(c) 

or its requirements. She cannot offer reasons why Section 1447(c) cannot be complied 

with. And she cannot vary the requirements of Section 1447(c). 

5. Nor can the Hearing Committee dispense with the requirements of Section 

1447(c) based on this Affidavit or based on the second-hand statements of Ms. Logan 

coming through Mr. Metzler. The first step in the portions of Section 1447(c) that the Chair 

highlighted in his Order this morning are also not committed to the Hearing Committee 

to administer in any fashion, let alone discharge. See July 12 Order at 1. Upon the removal, 

the matter is before an Article III court. And there it remains unless and until all 

conditions are met to even possibly return jurisdiction to this D.C. Court of Appeals 

(“DCCA”) adjunct body. Just one of those conditions is compliance with the italicized 

language in Section 1447(c). And again, the Affidavit cannot satisfy even just that one 

condition. (Later in this Motion, we set out all of the other necessary conditions to 
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jurisdiction returning here, so that focus is not lost on the fact that there are numerous 

uncrossed hurdles to a resumption of jurisdiction here. In short, an important issue of 

how the removal-jurisdiction process works cannot be allowed to devolve into reading 

the entrails of what the legally deficient and irrelevant Affidavit means as to Section 

1447(c) compliance. The answer is that the Affidavit has zero significance to Section 

1447(c) compliance. Nothing can be discerned from it except various points we highlight 

below that damage ODC’s position; they do not help it. 

6. Having made the key Article III constitutional point, next we will walk through 

our objections and analysis to each of the paragraphs of the Affidavit: 

a.  Paragraph 1: No objections. 

b. Paragraph 2: If the Chair were to overrule our constitutional and other 

legal objections in this Motion (and our prior related motions to vacate and to 

reconsider), we reserve the ability to examine Mr. Metzler under oath about his 

representation that he anticipated our Section 1447(c) noncompliance argument 

and thus called over to the U.S. District Court’s Clerk’s Office beginning on July 5, 

2023 to inquire when they would be sending a certified copy of the June 8, 2023 

remand order.1 We did not file our Motion to Vacate Orders until July 9, 2023. We 

believe that Motion took the Chair and ODC by surprise, as it appears to us that 

                                                 
1 We especially make this reservation because Mr. Metzler admits he misremembered when he spoke to the 
DDC Clerk’s Office on one occasion. See Affidavit Paragraph 12. 
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both ODC and the Chair were assuming until or Motion to Vacate Orders was filed 

on July 9 that the June 8, 2023 remand order of the District Court was self-

executing. This was incorrect for the reasons we have described.  

One reason we are dubitante on Mr. Metzler’s assertion in Paragraph 2 is 

that July 5 is still many weeks after ODC began making filings designed to 

reinitiate adjudication here. The first such filing was on June 9, 2023, when ODC 

made a notice filing of the June 8 remand order to the DCCA. Note that the 

reported phone call in Paragraph 2 of the Affidavit did not take place on June 8 or 

a few days after the date of the remand order; it took place nearly one month later.  

Finally, even if Paragraph 2 of the Affidavit were to be credited, ODC’s 

failure to spot for this Hearing Committee the absence of the certified mailed copy 

before it began vehemently contending that litigation should resume in this forum 

appears to be inconsistent with ODC’s duty of candor.  

Section 1447(c) is a jurisdictional provision. Hence, what Paragraph 2 is 

effectively saying is that ODC knew, at some as yet unidentified point, that the 

mailing of the certified copy of the June 8 remand order had jurisdictional 

significance. Yet, until we filed our July 9 Motion to Vacate Orders ODC lawyers 

remained mum that there was a jurisdictional barrier to proceeding here. They also 

kept their lips sealed as to the potential relevance of the first Metzler call to the U.S. 

District Court Clerk’s Office purportedly on July 5.  
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There has been a troubling pattern of ODC overzealousness against Mr. 

Clark. It began with Mr. Fox asserting that one of Mr. Clark’s prior lawyers, Robert 

Driscoll, had agreed to accept e-mail service of a subpoena from Mr. Fox involving 

Mr. Clark. This was false. See Affidavit of Robert N. Driscoll (Feb. 11, 2022). Mr. 

Fox also threatened to “ratchet up” the discipline against Mr. Clark twice on 

January 28, 2022 if Mr. Clark asserted his Fifth Amendment rights in order to 

decline response to the subpoena. See Affidavit of Harry W. MacDougald (Feb. 15, 

2022). Both of these were attached to the Response to Motion to Compel and Cross-

Motion to Quash filed in DCCA litigation Mr. Fox filed to try to compel compliance 

with his subpoena.2 

As of yesterday, July 12, 2023, we can now add a third incident to this 

catalogue, which Mr. Fox and the ODC he leads assert that they knew since at least 

July 5, 2023, that there was a jurisdictional defect to proceeding here but they did 

not disclose it (or the follow-on events about that involving the District Court 

Clerk’s Office) until the filing of Mr. Metzler’s Affidavit yesterday.  

c. Paragraph 3: Note that Mr. Metzler indicates that the District Court 

Clerk’s Office indicated that it is familiar with Section 1447(c)’s certified copy of a 

remand order mailing requirement. This indicates that those who are “repeat 

                                                 
2 Both the Driscoll and MacDougald affidavits are exhibits to our Response to Motion to Compel and Cross-
Motion to Quash. We are those attaching the entirety of that Response as Exhibit 1 herein. 
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players” on issues involving removal jurisdiction in that Clerk’s Office know that 

the mailing step is required. They are not even lawyers. ODC’s agents are. 

d. Paragraphs 4 & 5: These paragraphs confirm that no mailing of a certified 

copy of the June 8 remand order has occurred because otherwise there would be a 

reference to that mailing on the District Court docket—precisely as we had argued 

to the Chair. And, as we know, there is no such indication on the relevant docket, 

as we pointed out in our Motion to Vacate Orders. This point alone is dispositive 

of the true dispute here—has Section 1447(c) been complied with such that 

jurisdiction could possibly have resumed here (assuming there were no other 

barriers to the resumption of jurisdiction, which there are, see infra). 

e.  Paragraph 6: This Paragraph references removal litigation in District of 

Columbia v. ExxonMobil Corp., No. 1:20-cv-01932 (D.D.C. removed July 17, 2020). 

Paragraph 6 correctly notes that a remand order back to the D.C. Superior Court 

was issued in ExxonMobil and that that remand is now on appeal to the D.C. 

Circuit. Paragraph 6 notes that the appeal is still pending. Mr. Metzler, however, 

neglects to inform the Chair that the remanded Superior Court litigation was 

stayed on May 31, 2023 for a period of 60 days “in light of the pending appeal 

before the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit.” Exhibit 2 

(Order Granting Defendants’ Motion to Stay Proceedings). And, as Paragraph 6 

concedes, the ExxonMobil appeal has already been argued (23 days previous to 
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the entry of the Superior Court stay). By contrast, in this case, the ink on the June 

11 notice of appeal is barely dry and there has not been a briefing schedule issued, 

let alone briefs filed in the D.C. Circuit or oral argument held. 

This is basic judicial prudence. There is no reason the Chair here could not 

similarly press pause on this case for 30 to 60 days to allow at least the stay 

litigation in the District Court and D.C. Circuit on the remand order in this case to 

run its course. The speed with which ODC is intent on proceeding is a back-door 

attempt to moot Mr. Clark’s D.C. Circuit appeal rights. We make this point about 

a temporary stay in the alternative without detracting from our more fundamental 

position that this Court lacks power over this case given noncompliance with 

Section 1447(c) and other defects we catalogue below. 

f.  Paragraph 7: No objections subject to our proviso reserving our rights to 

conduct an examination as provided in Paragraph 2. 

g. Paragraph 8: This Paragraph sees Mr. Metzler telling the unidentified 

District Court person he spoke to that Hearing Committee Twelve does not have a 

clerk’s office. There is no indication, however, that he told this unidentified worker 

that the Board of Professional Responsibility (“Board”) keeps the docket in these 

matters. Nor did Mr. Metzler inform this unidentified worker that the Hearing 

Committees and the Board are adjunct bodies of the DCCA, which it is beyond 

dispute is a court, with a clerk’s office. Mr. Metzler is thus recounting how he 
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posed a series of leading and misleading questions to a hapless clerk in order to 

get contrived answers favorable to ODC’s position. What was a worker, who 

almost certainly was not a lawyer, who has no familiarity with the D.C. attorney 

discipline system, to say when Mr. Metzler gave her the technically true but 

substantively misleading premise that this Hearing Committee doesn’t have its 

own clerk’s office? Of course, the most natural response is going to be what we see 

in later paragraphs of the Affidavit — ‘well, then I guess we can’t mail out a 

certified copy of the remand order, Mr. Metzler.’ 

h. Paragraph 9: And sure enough, this Paragraph has the clerk saying 

exactly what Mr. Metzler induced her to say. Swears Mr. Metzler: “To the best of 

my recollection, she said something like: ‘because[,] like you said, there is no court 

clerk, so we would treat it like an agency case.” (Emphasis added). Mr. Metzler has 

led a District Court Clerk’s Office worker astray with a false premise and elicited 

from her the revelation that it is impossible to do something impossible. This 

operetta well illustrates both why clerks are barred from the practice of law and 

why hearsay is inadmissible. In any event, the entire story is irrelevant to how 

Section 1447(c) works. 

Moreover, this is not an agency case. There might be certain analogies 

between ODC, the Hearing Committees, and the Board to executive administrative 

agencies. But these adjunct bodies are nevertheless not executive agencies as we 
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explained recently in our Reply in Support of Motion to Vacate Orders and as Mr. 

Fox agreed until two days ago at 3 p.m. when he filed to oppose our Motion to 

Vacate Orders. Instead, the DCCA is a court and all Hearing Committees 

(including this one) and the Board are all adjuncts of that court. From Paragraph 9 

it is clear that Mr. Metzler told the Clerk’s Office worker at the DDC none of this, 

and even if he had, she may not have understood it. And she shouldn’t be expected 

to. 

i. Paragraph 10: Here, Mr. Metzler asks whether a case that is removed 

from an agency will fail to include a “remand notation on the [U.S. District Court 

for the District of Columbia] docket because there is no court clerk. She agreed.” 

She may have agreed but again, this is a matter beyond her ken. We cannot speak 

to what the DDC Clerk’s Office practice is in agency cases. But we can say that it 

is entirely inaccurate that agencies do not have clerks. Of course, they do. We offer 

just one example—the Environmental Protection Agency’s Environmental 

Appeals Board has a “Clerk of the Board.” See 

https://yosemite.epa.gov/oa/EAB_Web_Docket.nsf/General+Information/The+Cle

rk+of+the+Board?OpenDocument (last visited July 12, 2023). The whole 

interchange recounted in Paragraph 10 is a poster child for why it is impossible to 

rely on lay people working in Clerk’s Offices to give accurate legal advice, 

especially not in complex jurisdictional disputes. 

https://yosemite.epa.gov/oa/EAB_Web_Docket.nsf/General+Information/The+Clerk+of+the+Board?OpenDocument
https://yosemite.epa.gov/oa/EAB_Web_Docket.nsf/General+Information/The+Clerk+of+the+Board?OpenDocument
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j. Paragraphs 11 & 12: No objections subject to our proviso reserving our 

rights to conduct an examination as provided in Paragraph 2. 

k. Paragraph 13: This Paragraph is of decisive significance. Here, Mr. 

Metzler provides a critical legal caveat—“I do not claim that the information 

provided by the clerk is binding or an authoritative statement from the U.S. 

District Court. It reflects only the informal view of the clerk about an 

administrative aspect of her job—whether to send a copy of an order in the mail 

and make a particular notation on the docket.” Affidavit, Paragraph 13. This is 

correct. The information provided to Mr. Metzler by the DDC Clerk’s Office 

worker is not binding. Nor is it an authoritative statement from the District Court, 

which is an Article III court and has the exclusive power over this issue. The 

Clerk’s Office does not have it. And this Hearing Committee, including its Chair, 

do not have it. And yes, it is correct that this was only the “informal view” of the 

worker who was contacted. 

We disagree with the second aspect of Paragraph 13, namely, Mr. Metzler’s 

“belie[f] the clerk’s view is relevant to Clark’s argument that the Hearing 

Committee may not proceed because no such mailing has been made.” Id. Wrong. 

The Clerk’s Office personnel’s view is not relevant because it is legally 

indisputable that no one in the Clerk’s Office wields Article III power and that 

Section 1447(c) has not been complied with. Allowing reports of conversations 
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with Clerk’s Offices like the ones Mr. Metzler relates to govern jurisdictional 

issues, such as when jurisdiction changes hands, would lead to chaos. The Chair 

cannot give the Metzler Affidavit any credit whatsoever as to the removal-

jurisdiction dispute that currently precludes the Chair and this Hearing 

Committee from proceeding any further. 

The statement of the clerk recounted in his affidavit amounts to legal advice 

or a legal opinion as to the requirements of Section 1447(c) as applied here and 

whether the Clerk’s Office has complied with those requirements. Clerks are not 

permitted to give legal advice, which constitutes the practice of law. 28 U.S.C. § 

955 is explicit and unambiguous: “The clerk of each court and his deputies and 

assistants shall not practice law in any court of the United States.” 

The clerk of court is neither obligated nor authorized to provide legal 
advice to pro se litigants. See, e.g., Madison v. BP Oil Co., 928 F. Supp. 
1132, 1134 (S.D. Ala. 1996) (“the personnel of the Clerk's Office ... 
cannot give legal advice”); Ayers v. Jacobs & Crumpler, P.A., Civ. A. 
No. 94-658-SLR, 1995 WL 704781, *4 (D. Del. Nov. 2, 1995) (stating 
that “[t]he Rules of Professional Conduct and the law of common 
sense” both indicate that court clerks are not to be the source of legal 
advice).[3] 

Roosevelt Land, LP v. Childress, No. Civ. A. 05-1292 (RWR), 2006 WL 1877014, at *2 

(D.D.C. July 5, 2006). See also Uzoukwu v. Metropolitan Washington Council of Gov’ts, 

                                                 
3 They Ayers case’s holding presents another irony, as we have ODC lawyers purporting to enforce the 
Rules of Professional Conduct doing something the Rules of Professional Conduct do not permit — trying 
to rely, to some extent, on the (invalid) legal advice of the District Court Clerk’s Office. 
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983 F. Supp. 2d 67, 78 (D.D.C. 2013) (“As an initial matter, the Court, the Pro Se 

unit and the Clerk’s office are prohibited from giving legal advice.”) This 

prohibition, while expressed in cases involving a pro se litigant, should logically 

apply with even greater force where, as here, the party or advocate is a very 

experienced lawyer. 

7.  We have no obligation to assist ODC. All of this is a problem of ODC’s own 

making. Mr. Metzler’s ex parte conversations with the Clerk’s Office, which would not 

have come to light had we not filed the Motion to Vacate Orders, have only compounded 

ODC’s predicament. What is certain is that Section 1447(c) has not been complied with 

and that that is an insuperable barrier to proceedings continuing here. The June 16, 2023 

and July 5 Orders should be vacated. 

8.  The Affidavit is also hearsay—a statement by an affiant repeating the statements 

of an out of court declarant offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Paragraph 9 

relates double hearsay — what a second clerk told the first clerk (both unsworn and out 

of court) who talked to Mr. Metzler. To be clear, Respondent also lodges a general 

objection on this basis to the Affidavit being considered for any purpose. 

9. Finally, as we indicated above, it is worth summarizing where our jurisdictional 

and prudential objections to the Chair proceeding further here stand: 

a.  Section 1447(c) has not been complied with. Hence, Hearing Committee 

Twelve lacks remand jurisdiction. 
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b.  As we explained recently to the District Court in our stay motion that we 

also lodged here to incorporate the arguments therein by reference, the Hearing 

Committee lacks jurisdiction over this case under 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d), which 

continues in its automatic stay effect through conclusion of the appeal as of right 

provided to Mr. Clark as a federal officer under 28 U.S.C. § 1447(d), and as locked 

in by the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in BP plc. V. Mayor & City Council of 

Baltimore, 141 S. Ct. 1532, 1536 (2021) (“Here, too, Congress has deemed it 

appropriate to allow appellate review before a district court may remand a case 

to state court.”). Hence, the District Court cannot make its desire to remand 

effective before Mr. Clark’s D.C. Circuit appeal is complete. 

c.  ODC and particularly Mr. Fox are estopped to argue that the DCCA’s 

adjuncts are not courts for purposes of the federal removal statutes in a bid to try 

to reinitiate proceedings in this Hearing Committee. 

d.  Even if ODC were not estopped, it would eviscerate the federal removal 

statutes (especially federal officer removals) if States or the District of Columbia 

could use their courts to create non-court agents upon which to offload judicial 

business, while simultaneously claiming that such offloaded business does not 

involve and was not produced by courts. That would be a circumvention, a lock-

picking device that would leave the federal removal statutes nullities, the barn 

door open. That is not and cannot be the law. 
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e.  Even if the estoppel and circumvention arguments were both rejected, 

28 U.S.C. § 1442(d)(1) (emphasis added), wherein the amendment adopted by Pub. 

L. 112-239, 126 Stat. 1969, § 1087 (Jan. 2, 2013), expanded the definitions of “civil 

actions” and “criminal prosecutions” to include not just subpoenas, but “any 

proceeding … to the extent that in such proceeding a judicial order … is sought or 

issued.” It is now beyond dispute that these proceedings involve seeking a judicial 

order, especially after Mr. Fox at the start of this week (July 10, 2023) in the meet 

and confer the Chair ordered, threatened Mr. Clark through undersigned counsel 

with disbarment. Once again, as occurred back in January 2022, Mr. Fox used 

colorful language to flesh out his threat: “He can run, but he can’t hide.”4 This is 

thuggish and it is conduct that the Chair (and other members of the Hearing 

Committee, to the extent they are involved) should not tolerate. See D.C. Rule XI, 

§ 9 (any Board recommendation for discipline greater than an informal 

admonition or reprimand is decided by the D.C. Court of Appeals). Hence, it is 

clear that a judicial order is being sought, which also blocks ODC’s attempt to 

argue that it is somehow relevant that the Hearing Committee is not a court. It is 

not relevant because even if the Hearing Committee were not a court (and we reject 

                                                 
4 We will file an affidavit or declaration supporting this assertion if the Chair deems it necessary. But we 
doubt Mr. Fox will deny it. Four of Mr. Clark’s lawyers—all of the undersigned along with Ed Martin were 
on the call to hear it. 
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that argument for the reasons given above and elsewhere), the removal does not 

hinge on that point, meaning that Section 1447(c) cannot be dodged. It must be 

satisfied. 

f.  Even if the estoppel, circumvention, and Section 1442(d)(1) arguments 

were rejected, the pending D.C. Circuit appeal involves three consolidated actions 

that it is beyond the Chair’s powers to disentangle. And two of those involve 

removals of subpoena actions at the DCCA, which is a court. Whichever way ODC 

turns, its attempt to reinitiate this case at this time should be rejected. 

g.  Turning from our jurisdictional objections to the June 16 and July 5 

Orders to our prudential objections, firstly, there is no reason for the Hearing 

Committee not to await resolution of our pending motion in the DCCA to grant 

an abeyance and deferral of this litigation just like it was plainly in such a posture 

from January 17, 2023 until at least June 7, 2023. This is particularly true because 

in its July 5 Order, the Chair wrongly relied on a pre-removal order from the Board 

and also may have overlooked that the relief we sought from the DCCA included 

not just a continuance of the January 17, 2023 abeyance but also a general deferral. 

See Motion for Reconsideration (July 7, 2023). 

h.  Similarly, and as noted above, supra Paragraph 6.e., discussing the D.C. 

Superior Court stay in the Exxon litigation (which similarly is on appeal to the D.C. 

Circuit and involves a federal officer removal foundation), even if our BP and 
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Section 1446(d) arguments were to be rejected, there is no reason why it would not 

be wise  to enter a temporary stay in this case to see how the stay litigation in the 

District Court and the D.C. Circuit plays out. We suggested, at the very least, a 

grant of such relief on page 7 of our Motion to Vacate Orders. Additionally, the 

July 5 Order appeared to fault us for not having filed stay papers sooner in the 

District Court, overlooking that the applicable D.C. Circuit deadlines had not yet 

run (being July 14 for procedural motions and July 31 for dispositive motions). 

And, as the Chair is now aware, we have now filed the first set of stay papers in 

the District Court on July 11, 2023. 

i.  Lastly, there is no reason not to enter into a prudentially based pause in 

litigation here in light of the fact that if Respondent prevails in his appeal to the 

D.C. Circuit, any proceedings held here will be “absolutely void.” “Once a notice 

of removal is filed, ‘the State court shall proceed no further unless and until the 

case is remanded.’ 28 U. S. C. § 1446(d). The state court ‘los[es] all jurisdiction over 

the case, and, being without jurisdiction, its subsequent proceedings and 

judgment [are] not ... simply erroneous, but absolutely void.’ Kern v. Huidekoper, 

103 U.S. 485, 493 (1881). ‘Every order thereafter made in that court [is] coram non 

judice,” meaning ‘not before a judge.’ Steamship Co. v. Tugman, 106 U.S. 118, 122 

(1882) ....” Roman Catholic Archdiocese of San Juan, P.R. v. Acevedo Feliciano, 140 S. Ct. 

696, 700 (2020) (footnote omitted). We do not understand why the Chair or other 
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members of the Hearing Committee would want to take on that risk. 

CONCLUSION 

Jurisdiction is lacking in the DCCA and its adjuncts, including Hearing Committee 

Twelve, for a panoply of reasons, with the noncompliance with Section 1447(c) being the 

most salient reason for purposes of this Motion. This problem cannot be solved by 

hearsay affidavits recounting the legal position or administrative practices of the U.S. 

District Court Clerk because a hearsay affidavit cannot amend a federal statute or 

suspend its operation and command. This is especially true as to a jurisdictional statute. 

The Hearing Committee lacks jurisdiction and should suspend proceedings in this 

case.5 The Chair should also vacate its orders of June 16 and July 5, and entirely cancel 

the hearing set for July 12, 2023, not just postpone it. 

Respectfully submitted this 13th day of July 2023. 

/s/ Charles Burnham   
Charles Burnham 
DC Bar No. 1003464 
Burnham and Gorokhov, PLLC 
1750 K Street, NW, Suite 300 
Washington DC 20006 
(202) 386-6920 
charles@burnhamgorokhov.com  

Robert A. Destro* 
Ohio Bar #0024315 
4532 Langston Blvd, #520 
Arlington, VA 22207 
202-319-5303 
robert.destro@protonmail.com 

*Motion for pro hac vice admission before 
DCCA in progress 

                                                 
5 As should be abundantly clear, Respondent reserves all other jurisdictional defenses previously asserted. 
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Harry W. MacDougald* 
Georgia Bar No. 453076 
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP 
Two Ravinia Drive, Suite 1600 
Atlanta, Georgia 30346 
(404) 843-1956 
hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com 
* Motion for pro hac vice admission before DCCA 
in progress 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that I have on this day served counsel for the opposing party with 

a copy of this Lodged Respondent’s Motion to Disregard ODC Affidavit as Legally 

Deficient and Thus Irrelevant by filing with the Board’s Case Manager, who will cause 

service to be made upon opposing counsel, and by email addressed to: 

Hamilton P. Fox 
Jason R. Horrell 
Theodore (Jack) Metzler 
D.C. Bar 
Building A, Room 117 
515 5th Street NW 
Washington DC 20001 
foxp@dcodc.org  
horrellj@dcodc.org  
metzlerj@dcodc.org  

 
This this 13th day of July, 2023.  

 
/s/ Charles Burnham   
Charles Burnham 
DC Bar No. 1003464 
1750 K Street, NW 
Suite 300 
Washington DC 20006 
(202) 386-6920 
charles@burnhamgorokhov.com 
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INTRODUCTION 

The Motion to Compel should be denied and the subpoena quashed on three grounds: (1) 

Respondent Mr. Clark properly invoked his Fifth Amendment rights, see infra Section I; (2) the 

Bar’s disciplinary authority does not extend to the preparation of privileged Executive Branch 

discussion drafts of letters never sent, see infra Section II; and (3) investigating and potentially 

punishing the preparation of confidential, non-public discussion drafts pertaining to a very 

contentious political dispute, at the behest of a highly partisan member of the opposite party in a 

rival branch of government, would embroil the Bar in matters far beyond its charter, and pervert 

the disciplinary process to purely political ends, see infra Section III. Oral argument is requested. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

NATURE AND ORIGIN OF COMPLAINT FROM SENATOR DURBIN  

The Office of Disciplinary Counsel (“ODC”) began its investigation of Respondent a week 

after receiving a letter from Senator Richard Durbin, Chairman of the Senate Judiciary Committee. 

Senator Durbin has no personal knowledge of the matters complained of. At least one other 

politically motivated complaint was filed by a collection of third-party detractors but was rightly 

rejected by ODC for lack of personal knowledge, which should similarly have been fatal to the 

Durbin complaint as well. 

Senator Durbin, a partisan opponent of President Trump, here complains about a 

confidential and privileged discussion draft of a letter calling for more legislative investigation 

allegedly prepared by Respondent while he was a senior DOJ official about a matter of intense 

political controversy. The draft was reportedly the subject of vigorous internal privileged and 

confidential debate involving legal judgment, first among senior DOJ officials including 

Respondent, and later played out before the President himself and his most senior legal advisors 

at the White House and DOJ. After considering the letter, the President appears to have decided 
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against sending it, and so it was never sent. That was the end of the matter, at least until the phalanx 

of privileges attending the preparation and discussion of the draft—executive, law enforcement, 

and attorney-client—were all breached via anonymous leaks to the New York Times, and it became 

fodder for the lawfare element of the political witch hunt currently underway against Respondent. 

The crux of the allegations are that Respondent made knowingly false statements of fact 

about possible election anomalies in the never-sent discussion draft of a letter calling for 

investigation. The allegations of “knowing falsity” rest on the dogged premise that there was no 

possible good-faith belief that there were any election irregularities sufficient to suggest a state 

legislature engage in further investigation. But premises do not equal truth; they are just the 

position of one side in an intense partisan political controversy that evenly divides Americans. 

Being evenly balanced between the political parties, Senator Durbin’s Senate Judiciary 

Committee could not issue subpoenas.1 Senator Durbin’s letter to the ODC consequently spoke 

only for himself, not the entire Committee. ODC has thus taken up a complaint from a single 

politically motivated member of one branch of government who is trying to weaponize the bar 

disciplinary process against a senior official (from a rival political party) at an Executive Branch 

department over a never-sent privileged and confidential discussion draft of a letter calling for 

more state legislative process. The complaint, the investigation, and any potential punishment are 

thus all directed not against conduct but against constitutionally protected thoughts and legal 

advice deemed contrary to the foundational premise upon which the allegations rest. 

To proceed further, ODC would have to distinguish among (1) the true state of the facts; 

(2) individual perceptions of the facts; (3) opinions about the significance of the perceived facts; 

 
1 See Rule IX of the Rules of Procedure of the United States Senate, available at 
https://tinyurl.com/36uuee5f (last visited Feb. 15, 2022), a rule with constitutional imprimatur, 
U.S. Const., art. I, § 5 (“Each House may determine the Rules of its Proceedings ....”). 
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and (4) legal, policy and prudential judgments about what ought to be done or not done in light of 

the perceived facts. At the time, there were intense controversies attached to each of these four 

tiers of inquiry. Those controversies still exist and will persist well into the future—just as they 

still do with respect to the Bush v. Gore controversy arising back in 2000.  

ODC’S ACTIONS TO DATE  

After docketing Senator Durbin’s complaint on October 14, 2021, ODC made immediate 

resort to a subpoena, bypassing less invasive or aggressive methods of trying to gather information.  

ODC’s aggression out of the gate stumbled on a series of procedural faults along the way. 

A first letter purporting to transmit the subpoena to Respondent’s former counsel dated October 

18, 2021, the so-called “B letter,” was never received. See Affidavit of Robert A. Driscoll, ¶¶ 4-11 

(attached as Exhibit 1). A follow-up “D letter,” premised on the lack of any response to the first 

letter and dated November 9, 2021 and purportedly sent to Respondent’s former counsel, was also 

never received. See generally Driscoll Affidavit. 

On November 22, 2021, Disciplinary Counsel, Mr. Fox, left a voice mail for Respondent’s 

former counsel saying that no response had been received to either letter and that a motion to 

compel would be filed that day or early the next morning. See id. at ¶ 6. The former counsel, Mr. 

Driscoll, immediately returned the call and informed Mr. Fox that he had never received anything 

from him and that he no longer represented Mr. Clark. See id. at ¶ 7. Mr. Driscoll then double-

checked all incoming email systems including filters and regular mail and confirmed that nothing 

had been received from Mr. Fox, and so informed Mr. Fox. See id. at ¶ 8-9. 

Importantly, Mr. Fox never mentioned or discussed a subpoena with Mr. Driscoll, and Mr. 

Driscoll never made any agreement to accept service of the subpoena on behalf of the Respondent. 

Thereafter, Mr. Fox attempted to deliver a new “B letter” dated November 22, 2021 and subpoena 

directly to Respondent. This letter, however, was initially not received either. 
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Next, Respondent got Covid, and Mr. Fox very kindly accommodated his recovery. Mr. 

Fox and Respondent later began exchanging emails in which Mr. Fox attempted to deliver the 

letter and its exhibits via email. This too was beset with delivery problems. Some of the email 

exchanged between Respondent and Mr. Fox and his assistants was intercepted by each side’s 

spam filters. Mr. Clark thus did not receive the full set of documents comprising the “B letter” and 

its attachments until January 6, 2022. See Aff. of Resp., ¶¶ 4-6 (attached as Exhibit 2).  

Respondent agreed to and did respond to ODC’s letter and subpoena on January 31, 2022. 

See id. at ¶ 6. But he never agreed to accept service of the subpoena via email. 

The subpoena called for Respondent to either produce documents or appear at the Bar 

offices on the return date (which was never corrected by ODC to the agreed-on January 31, 2022 

date) if documents were not to be produced. On Friday January 28, 2022, new counsel for 

Respondent spoke to Mr. Fox by telephone to say that Respondent would invoke the Fifth 

Amendment and would not be producing any documents, inquiring if Respondent nevertheless 

needed to appear. Mr. Fox replied, “no,” but that if Mr. Clark claimed the Fifth Amendment against 

the production of documents, “I promise you I will ratchet up the discipline” and that a motion to 

compel would be rapidly filed. Mr. Fox followed up with an email at 8:30 PM that Friday evening 

reiterating that threat. See Harry MacDougald Aff. at ¶¶ 5-6 (attached as Exhibit 3). 

On January 31, 2022, Mr. MacDougald (one of Mr. Clark’s undersigned counsel) delivered 

to Mr. Fox two lengthy letters responding to the unserved subpoena. The shorter letter invoked, 

inter alia, Mr. Clark’s Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination as well as the act of 

production doctrine, and laid out in detail the basis for a well-founded fear of criminal prosecution 

and the overlap with a document subpoena issued by the January 6 House Select Committee. The 

letter thus requested a deferral under Board Rule 4.1, noted the defects in the subpoena’s service, 
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highlighted separation of powers issues, and reserved all other rights, defenses, and objections. 

The longer letter asserted a series of substantive legal objections to the ODC proceeding with the 

investigation and attached the full set of letters to the January 6 Committee as exhibits. 

Mr. Fox filed this Motion to Compel on February 3, 2022. There was no meet and confer 

(see Board Rule 2.9(a)) or other discussion about Respondents’ objections. While the Motion 

recites that it was served with exhibits by regular mail and email on February 3, 2022, a remarkable 

series of clerical problems in ODC prevented delivery of the complete motion and exhibits from 

being accomplished until February 14, 2022. See Exhibit 3 ¶¶ 7-15.  When Mr. Fox was first 

informed of non-deliver, he quickly sent the Motion to Compel to undersigned counsel, informed 

us that the exhibits were documents we already had, and agreed that the response to his Motion 

could be filed on February 15, 2022, and a motion to that effect was filed in this Court. Id. at ¶ 10. 

Mr. Fox produced certain correspondence with Senator Durbin and his staff dated October 

14, 2021, which informed the Senator that his complaint had been docketed as an investigation 

rather than a charge, that the matter was confidential, and that he would automatically furnish the 

Senator with any response made by Mr. Clark. In his letters to Mr. Fox of January 31, 2022 in 

response to the subpoena, undersigned counsel vigorously objected to furnishing Mr. Clark’s 

response to Senator Durbin on the grounds that it would breach the confidentiality of the 

proceedings, as Senator Durbin was not Respondent’s client, and that in the supercharged political 

atmosphere surrounding the underlying issues, doing so would very likely result in a media leak 

of the information, further fueling the partisan furor raging against Mr. Clark. 

Mr. Fox also produced “Touhy correspondence” with DOJ (see 28 C.F.R. § 16.21 et seq.), 

seeking access to former DOJ officials as witnesses. DOJ replied, agreeing to Mr. Fox’s request. 

However, DOJ failed in multiple respects to comply with its own regulations governing such 
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matters, as we are just setting before DOJ today and thus which we do not further address here, 

pending a response by DOJ. Lastly, Mr. Fox also shared two additional Touhy-related documents 

with us on February 11, 2022. 

ARGUMENT 

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND  

A. Enforcement of Subpoenas 

When conducting an investigation, Disciplinary Counsel may propound “written inquiries” 

with the explicit limitation that the investigation is subject to “constitutional limitations.” D.C. Bar 

Rule XI, § 8(a). But no subpoena may include inquiries crossing over into the impermissible 

territory of litigation-like interrogatories. See In re Artis, 883 A.2d 85 (D.C. 2005). This Court 

frames disciplinary proceedings as “adversary, adjudicatory proceedings” related to property rights 

and which therefore are attended by due process protections. See In re Benjamin, 698 A.2d 434, 

439 (D.C. 1997) (citing In re Thorup, 432 A.2d 1221, 1225 (D.C. 1981)). 

Disciplinary Counsel may compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of 

pertinent books, papers, documents, etc., but only subject to D.C. Superior Court Rule 45. See D.C. 

Bar Rule XI, § 18(a). This Court may, “on proper application,” enforce a subpoena. See id., § 

18(d).2 Superior Court Rule 45(b)(1) prescribes the manner for service of subpoenas, requiring 

delivery to the person named by anyone over the age of 18 years who is not a party to the action 

and the tendering of certain fees if attendance is demanded (as it originally was in the alternative 

here). Rule 45(b)(3) requires the one serving the subpoena to certify proof of service showing the 

 
2 However, if there is a challenge to the subpoena, Bar Rule XI, § 18(c) contemplates a Board of 
Professional Responsibility’s Hearing Committee to hear and determine the challenge. We did not 
bring such a challenge because ODC did not engage in the required meet and confer after we filed 
the January 31, 2022 letters. ODC simply proceeded immediately to this Court. Especially given 
the pendency of various investigations—and the interim nature of the report that Senator Durbin’s 
staff prepared, we are at a loss to explain why ODC considers this matter to be exigent.  
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date and manner of service and the name of the person served. 

Board Rules 3.14 through 3.16 also control subpoenas issued during an investigation, and 

they allow for Disciplinary Counsel to apply directly to this Court for enforcement. On February 

3, 2022, Disciplinary Counsel chose to file a motion to enforce directly with this Court.  

Pursuant to Superior Court Rule 45(c)(3)(A), as transplanted here, subpoenas may be 

quashed on timely motion if they require disclosure of privileged or protected matter not subject 

to exception or waiver, is unduly burdensome or fails to provide a reasonable time to comply; and 

under sub-rule (c)(3)(B)(i) if the subpoena requests “confidential research.” Parties may also 

describe their objections, if substantiated, to a subpoena as “overbroad” or amounting to a “fishing 

expedition.” In re Confidential, 701 A.2d 842, 842 (D.C. 1997). If there is an assertion of a 

privilege, etc., then under Superior Court Rule 45(d)(2), the claim must be expressly made.  

B. Standard of Review 

Since Disciplinary Counsel chose to seek enforcement of his subpoena directly with the 

Court of Appeals, any issues and objections must be decided here in the first instance and not on 

review. Since the subpoena enforcement involves questions of law, questions of fact, and mixed 

questions of law and fact, the Court should act in the same vein as a trial court, deciding questions 

of law and finding facts. Cf. In re Public Defender Serv., 831 A.2d 890, 898-99 (D.C. 2003), which 

discussed the various roles in the context of a grand jury subpoena. This analysis applies here by 

analogy as well, especially given the assertion of constitutional and other privileges.  

C. The Subpoena Was Improperly Served and Should Be Quashed.  

The applicable procedure for service of subpoenas is very clear. Superior Court Rule 

45(b)(1) requires that the subpoena be served by an adult who is not party to the action, coupled 

with certified proof of subpoena service and tendered fees (if attendance might be required). There 

is no certified proof of service by an adult here (and no fees tendered) because the subpoena was 
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not so served. Service was not waived, no testimony has been given, and objections were timely 

made, preserving all rights. See In re Sealed Case, 116 F.3d 550, 561-62 (D.C. Cir. 1997). 

Thus, the service requirement has not been met. And where subpoenas are not properly 

served, they must be quashed. See Hamer v. Eastern Credit Ass’n, Inc., 192 A.2d 127 (D.C. 1963); 

see also Pulley v. United States, 532 A.2d 651, 653 (D.C. 1987) (citing CF&I Steel Corp. v. Mitsui 

& Co. (U.S.A.), Inc., 713 F.2d 494 (9th Cir. 1983) (quashing subpoena for failure to tender fees)). 

Further, since Superior Court Rule 45 is “virtually identical” to Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 45, it 

is instructive to refer to the importance of maintaining the integrity of the service requirement. See 

also FTC v. Compagnie De Saint-Gobain-Pont-A-Mousson, 636 F.2d 1300, 1312-13 (D.C. Cir. 

1980), which underscored the point: 

By contrast, Federal Rule 45(c), governing subpoena service, does not permit any 
form of mail service, nor does it allow service of the subpoena merely by delivery 
to a witness’ dwelling place. Thus, under the Federal Rules, compulsory process 
may be served upon an unwilling witness only in person. Even within the United 
States, and even upon a United States citizen, service by registered U.S. mail is 
never a valid means of delivering compulsory process …. 

See also id. at 1307.  

The Supreme Court has repeatedly emphasized the importance of service. See, e.g., Murphy 

Bros., Inc. v. Michetti Pipe Stringing, Inc., 526 U.S. 344 (1999) (even actual notice via fax of a 

file-stamped copy of a pleading was not valid service). “Service of process, under longstanding 

tradition in our system of justice, is fundamental to any procedural imposition on a named 

defendant …. Unless a named defendant agrees to waive service, the summons continues to 

function as the sine qua non directing an individual or entity to participate in a civil action or forgo 

procedural or substantive rights.” Id. at 350-51. 

I .  THE F IFTH AMENDMENT BARS ENFORCEMENT OF THE SUBPOENA .  

The Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination: 
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not only protects the individual against being involuntarily called as a witness 
against himself in a criminal prosecution but also privileges him not to answer 
official questions put to him in any other proceeding, civil or criminal, formal or 
informal, where the answers might incriminate him in future criminal proceedings. 

Lefkowitz v. Turley, 414 U.S. 70, 77 (1973) (emphasis added). 

A. Mr. Clark Properly Invoked the Fifth Amendment.  

In the District, it has long been settled that a court evaluating a Fifth Amendment claim 

should not speculate about whether criminal prosecution is “likely” but should instead limit its 

inquiry to whether criminal prosecution is “possible.” Carter v. United States, 684 A.2d 331, 334-

35, 338 (D.C. 1996) (en banc). The Carter decision overruled a line of cases requiring courts to 

assess the probability of prosecution before upholding Fifth Amendment privilege. 

Moreover, the Fifth Amendment is to be “liberally construed” and thus is not limited to 

situations where the compelled disclosures themselves would be incriminating. It is sufficient if 

the disclosure could possibly supply a “link in the chain” leading to prosecution. Wilson v. United 

States, 558 A.2d 1135, 1141 (D.C. 1989), overruled on other grounds by Carter, 684 A.2d 331 

(D.C. 1996) (en banc). In a foundational case, the United States Supreme Court described this 

concept as follows: “A question which might appear at first sight a very innocent one might, by 

affording a link in a chain of evidence, become the means of bringing home an offense to the party 

answering.” Mason v. United States, 244 U.S. 362, 364-66 (1917) (citing 1861 English decision). 

Although the Fifth Amendment must normally be asserted on a question-by-question basis, 

this Court recognizes that the combination of the “possible prosecution” standard and the “link in 

the chain” doctrine can easily render entire areas of testimony privileged. See, e.g., Butler v. United 

States, 890 A.2d 181, 188 (D.C. 2006) (granting a witness blanket immunity was procedurally 

flawed but harmless since it was “obvious that any testimony” would be incriminating) (italics in 

original); Johnson v. United States, 746 A.2d 349, 356 (D.C. 2000) (same). 
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ODC’s investigation of Mr. Clark presents an obvious Fifth Amendment case. The letter 

from Senator Durbin that triggered this investigation itself states that “Mr. Clark appears to have 

violated Rule 1.2(e)’s prohibition against counseling a client to engage, or assisting a client, in 

conduct the lawyer knows is criminal or fraudulent.” Exhibit 4 at 2 (internal quotations and 

brackets omitted) (emphasis added). This allegation of criminal conduct in the triggering 

complaint, standing alone, is sufficient to justify Mr. Clark’s Fifth Amendment invocation. If 

further reinforcement is needed, Mr. Clark’s letter in response to this subpoena detailed many 

examples of lawyers implicitly or explicitly calling for Mr. Clark’s criminal prosecution based on 

his service in the Justice Department. See Exhibit C to Motion to Enforce at 6-8. Notably, the 

January 6 Select Committee appears to have accepted Mr. Clark’s invocation of the Fifth 

Amendment as to the same subject matter and has publicly pivoted to the topic of whether to grant 

him immunity.3 

In contesting the validity of Mr. Clark’s Fifth Amendment invocation, Disciplinary Counsel 

first argues that the Office of Disciplinary Counsel itself cannot charge crimes. Motion at 7. As 

quoted above, however, the Supreme Court has long held that the Fifth Amendment applies outside 

of the strictly criminal context, if the disclosures “might incriminate in [] future criminal 

proceedings.” Lefkowitz, 414 U.S. at 77. And most importantly, this Court has held repeatedly that 

Fifth Amendment protection applies in Disciplinary Counsel cases. See, e.g., In re Artis, 883 A.2d 

85, 103 (D.C. 2005); In re Burton, 472 A.2d 831, 845-46 (D.C. 1984). 

Disciplinary Counsel then argues that Mr. Clark has not asserted he is “even the subject, 

much less the target, of any criminal investigation.” Motion at 7. Putting aside the obvious point 

 
3 See, e.g., Daniel Chaitin, Jan. 6 Committee Member Floats Immunity for Trump Justice Official, 
WASH. EXAMINER (Feb. 3, 2022), available at https://tinyurl.com/bdemy976, (last visited Feb. 15, 
2022); https://tinyurl.com/2n6cu36c (Rep. Lofgren, YouTube video) (last visited Feb. 15, 2022). 
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the criminal investigations are often confidential, no Court has ever held that Fifth Amendment 

protection is only available to persons known to be under active criminal investigation. 

Disciplinary counsel cites no cases in support of this argument. 

Next, Disciplinary Counsel argues that Mr. Clark has not “specif[ied] what criminal 

charges [he] might realistically be subject to.” Id. This argument is unavailing for two reasons. 

First, Mr. Clark has no burden to show that he “might realistically be subject to” criminal 

prosecution. This standard for Fifth Amendment protection was explicitly rejected by this Court 

en banc in Carter, cited above. Second, this Court has never required individuals seeking Fifth 

Amendment protection to identify specific criminal statutes. Disciplinary Counsel cites no case 

imposing this requirement. In any event, in his counsel’s letter to Disciplinary Counsel, Mr. Clark 

cited an editorial by several prominent law professors that did identify several specific statutes the 

authors contended could serve as a basis for criminal investigation of former President Trump and 

“members of his inner circle.” Motion, Exhibit 3 at 8 (collected list of statutes below): 

Obstruction of an Official Proceeding (18 U.S.C. § 1512); Conspiracy to Defraud 
the Government (18 U.S.C § 371); Voter Fraud for Pressuring State Officials Not 
to Certify the Election (52 U.S.C. § 20511); the Hatch Act (5 U.S.C. § 7323); the 
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)); 
Insurrection (18 U.S.C. § 2383); and Seditious Conspiracy (18 U.S.C. § 2384). 

B. Disciplinary Counsel’s Subpoena Amounts to an Improper Set of 
Interrogatories and Thus It Is Not Even Necessary to Reach the Act of 
Production Doctrine. 

Disciplinary Counsel also disputes Mr. Clark’s invocation of the Fifth Amendment “act of 

production” privilege. But Disciplinary Counsel’s arguments in that vein fail because ODC’s 

subpoena is plainly more than a simple demand for documents. 

To be sure, the Fifth Amendment privilege does not ordinarily apply to “pre-existing, 

voluntarily prepared documents.” Fisher v. United States, 425 U.S. 391, 408-09 (1976). However, 

when a given request goes in any way beyond mere production of pre-existing documents, the 
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Fifth Amendment bar arises. See, e.g., United States v. John Does, 465 U.S. 605, 610-15 (1984) 

(compelled oral or written testimony that restates the contents of documents would be privileged). 

In In re Artis, this Court considered a case where Disciplinary Counsel had issued 

“interrogatory-like questions” to respondent. 888 A.2d 85 (D.C. 2005). This Court affirmed the 

respondent’s right to assert his Fifth Amendment privilege and did not order the respondent to 

answer Disciplinary Counsel’s “interrogatory-like questions.” Id. at 99, 101 & n.13. 

Here, Disciplinary Counsel incorrectly claims that its subpoena merely seeks “five 

categories of documents.” Motion at 11-12. To the contrary, the subpoena seeks much more than 

that and is in fact directly analogous to the “interrogatory-like questions” (i.e., those inherently 

forcing respondent admissions) at issue in In re Artis. The emphasized portions of the following 

subpoena requests make clear that more than simple production of documents is demanded: 

• Produce all documents and records … of which you were aware before January 4, 2021, 
that contain evidence of irregularities in the 2020 presidential election and that may 
have affected the outcome in Georgia or any other state; 
 

• Identify the source of any document (including contact information for any persons 
bringing the document to your attention, how it came to your attention, and the date it 
came to your attention;  
 

• Specify what information of election fraud came to your attention following the 
announcement of Attorney General Barr on December 1, 2020 that the Department found 
no evidence of fraud on a scale that could have affected the results of the presidential 
election; 

 
• Produce any file or collection of materials or correspondence, written or electronic, 

relating to any efforts that you made between the November 3, 2020 presidential election 
and January 4, 2021, that relate in any way to any efforts you made to persuade officials 
of the United States Department of Justice to intervene in the certification by any state; 

 
• Provide the results of any legal research that you conducted, had conducted, or received 

before January 4, 2021 … [t]his information should include any research that addresses 
the responsibility of the Assistant Attorney General of the Civil Division or the Assistant 
Attorney General of the Environmental [sic] and Natural Resources Division to investigate 
allegations of election fraud; 
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• Provide all written policies and guidelines of the Department of Justice, of which you were 
aware and that were in effect between November 3, 2020 and January 4, 2021, relating to 
the circumstances in which lawyers at the Department of Justice were permitted to be in 
direct contact with officials of the White House or the Executive Office of the President; 

 
The emphasized portions of the foregoing list of demands make clear that the subpoena 

does not simply request “categories of documents.” It requires Mr. Clark to make substantive 

assertions or concessions about such things as: (1) when he became aware of certain documents; 

(2) how and by whom the documents came to his attention; (3) the relationship between the 

documents and his “efforts”; (4) the “results” of his legal research and when he conducted it; and 

(5) which policies he was “aware [of] that were in effect” at certain times. These requests go far 

beyond the type of “preexisting documents” that fall outside the scope of the Fifth AmendmentThe 

requests demand substantive admissions from Mr. Clark about facts relating to his mens rea and 

that could obviously be used as a “link in the chain” of some future criminal case. And even if 

there are no responsive documents to a given request, this answer itself could be used as an 

admission to incriminate Mr. Clark. It is therefore not necessary even to engage in an “act of 

production” analysis to sustain Mr. Clark’s Fifth Amendment invocation. 

C. Even to the Extent It Is Implicated Here, Mr. Clark Has a Strong and Valid 
Basis to Claim the Act of Production Privilege. 

However, to the extent this Court decides the Fifth Amendment act of production doctrine 

is implicated here, District law clearly supports Mr. Clark’s ability to assert this privilege in 

response to the subpoena. In In re Public Defender Service, this Court held as follows: 

A government subpoena compels the holder of the document to perform an act that 
may have testimonial aspects and an incriminating effect. That is, by producing 
documents in compliance with a subpoena, the witness would admit that the papers 
existed, were in his possession or control, and were authentic. 

*** 
Even where the contents of a subpoenaed document may be incriminating, the act 
of production privilege is not automatic. The act of production privilege does not 
apply if the existence and authenticity of a document is a foregone conclusion as 
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would be the case if the act of production adds little or nothing to the sum total of 
the Government’s information. 

831 A.2d 890, 912 (D.C. 2003) (internal quotations and citations omitted).  

Instead of attempting to meet In re Public Defender Service’s “foregone conclusion” 

standard, Disciplinary Counsel argues that Mr. Clark has not shown that responding to the 

subpoena will conclusively prove him guilty of a crime: 

This is far removed from the situation in Hubble, where a criminal defendant was 
required to produce to the grand jury personal financial records which established 
his income tax evasion, or in Public Defender Service, where a grand jury 
subpoena, if complied with, might have linked the defendant to a coerced witness 
statement. 

Motion at 13 (emphasis added). However, there is no requirement that Mr. Clark demonstrate that 

responding to the subpoena will conclusively prove him guilty of a criminal act. Ohio v. Reiner, 

532 U.S. 17, 18 (2001) (Fifth Amendment “protects the innocent as well as the guilty”); see also 

In re Artis, 883 A.2d at 99 (noting Board’s conclusion, which was affirmed in relevant part, that 

respondents “should not be obligated to respond to vague and overly broad questions that require 

him or her to make Bar Counsel’s case”). It is sufficient if the subpoena response could furnish a 

“link in the chain” of possible prosecution, even if meritless. Mr. Clark has met that standard. 

II .  THE SUBPOENA SHOULD BE QUASHED BECAUSE THE CHALLENGED 
CONDUCT IS NOT SUBJECT TO BAR D ISCIPLINE .  

In the grand jury context, this Court has held that a subpoena must have a “legitimate 

purpose.”  Brooks v. United States, 448 A.2d 253, 261 (D.C. 1982).  See also In re Horowitz, 482 

F.2d 72, 80 (2d. Cir. 1973) (documents that have “no conceivable relevance” to legitimate object 

of grand jury investigation need not be produced); In re Rabbinical Seminary Netzach Israel 

Ramailis, 450 F. Supp. 1078, 1084 (E.D.N.Y. 1978) (“The documents requested must be shown to 

have some general relevance to the subject matter of a legitimate grand jury investigation.”). 

The same rationale of these grand jury cases applies in the bar discipline context.  As 
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explained below, ODC’s subpoena should be quashed because it has no reasonable relation to a 

legitimate area of bar discipline enforcement. 

A. 28 USC § 530B(a) Does Not Confer on the D.C. Bar Unfettered Authority 
to Investigate or Regulate the Discretionary Actions of DOJ Lawyers. 

Under the U.S. Constitution, the President of the United States, not the Attorney General 

is its chief law enforcement officer. See U.S. Const., art. II, § 3 (the President “shall take Care that 

the Laws be faithfully executed ….”). It is therefore far from obvious that state and local bar 

authorities can always wield disciplinary jurisdiction over lawyers authorized by virtue of their 

appointments pursuant to Article II, to exercise executive authority and advise the President, as 

that could hamper the President’s ability to obtain legal advice.  

In keeping with the President’s authority and right to receive full and frank advice and 

information, senior federal officers have a reciprocal duty to provide it upon request. See U.S. 

Const., art. II, § 2, cl. 1 (Opinion Clause); 28 U.S.C. § 506 (Assistant Attorney Generals, like Mr. 

Clark, to be appointed by President with advice and consent of Senate); OLC Opinion, State Bar 

Disciplinary Rules as Applied to Federal Government Attorneys (Aug. 2, 1985) (“Rules 

promulgated by state courts or bar associations that are inconsistent with the requirements or 

exigencies of federal service may violate the Supremacy Clause.”), available at 

https://tinyurl.com/56bft7sb, last visited (Feb. 15, 2022) (hereafter “OLC Opinion”). 

Where, as here, the face of Disciplinary Counsel’s interrogatories show that they seek 

access to information that ODC has no authority to seek or review, the Court need not reach the 

constitutional arguments in order to quash the subpoena. We nevertheless reserve them.4 

 
4 See Bond v. United States, 572 U.S. 844, 855 (2014) (“well-established principle governing the 
prudent exercise of this Court’s jurisdiction [is] that normally the Court will not decide a 
constitutional question if there is some other ground upon which to dispose of the case.”).  
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That is because even beyond the Fifth Amendment as applied here, there is a more than 

sufficient basis on which to deny enforcement of the subpoena. For the statute Congress passed 

purporting to subject Justice Department lawyers to state and local bar rules, 28 U.S.C. § 530B(a), 

does not authorize any inquiry into the internal policy deliberations of the Department of Justice 

or of any other agency of the federal government that employs lawyers. Nor does the statute, by 

its terms, authorize the D.C. Bar to oversee the enforcement of internal DOJ and Executive Branch 

policies governing the conduct of their respective internal operations. See 28 U.S.C. § 530B(a) 

(“An attorney for the Government shall be subject to State laws and rules, and local Federal court 

rules, governing attorneys in each State where such attorney engages in that attorney’s duties, to 

the same extent and in the same manner as other attorneys in that State.”) (emphasis added). 

Relatedly, in 1999 DOJ improperly purported to extend the reach of Section 530B(a), by regulation 

issued under Section 530(B)(b), to the District of Columbia. See 28 C.F.R. § 77.2(h).5  

 
5 The relevant preamble (hastily assembled via an interim final rule) does not even address how 
the Justice Department could try, via its subordinated rulemaking powers, to extend the statute to 
the District of Columbia when the statute does not mention the District. The preamble cites to 28 
U.S.C. §§ 509, 510, 515(a), 516, 517, 519, 533, and 547. See 64 Fed. Reg. 19,273, 19274 (Apr. 
20, 1999). But none of these statutes even reference the District of Columbia specifically. And 
these provisions say nothing about the power of D.C. Bar authorities to sit in oversight of the 
discretionary actions of Justice Department lawyers. The 1999 rule is thus invalid under step one 
of the Chevron test, which voids regulatory interpretations of any statute that conflict with the 
statute’s plain text, interpreted using “traditional tools of statutory construction.” Chevron, U.S.A., 
Inc. v. NRDC, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 843 n.9 (1984). And the canon of interpreting statutes as part of 
the corpus juris (the whole body of the law) is no doubt such a traditional tool of statutory 
interpretation. See, e.g., Branch v. Smith, 538 U.S. 254, 282 (2003)  (“courts do not interpret 
statutes in isolation, but in the context of the corpus juris of which they are a part, including later-
enacted statutes.”). The plain text is violated here because D.C. is not a “State,” see infra. 
 
The preamble also mentions (1) Pub. L. 96-132, 93 Stat. 1040, 1044 (1979); and (2) Pub. L. 105-
277 (1998), section 102 of the Departments of Commerce, Justice and State, the Judiciary, and 
Related Agencies Appropriations Act. But both of these provisions are appropriations law limited 
to one-off fiscal years; they lack general effect. Moreover, the former provision predates Section 
530B(a) and the latter provision is silent on 530B(a) and thus cannot be read to amend it. Finally, 
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All lawyers who practice before this Court and in the federal courts of the District of 

Columbia are, by statute, subject to the authority of each court to control the conduct of the 

attorneys who appear there. Significantly, there is an established, but limited, procedure for doing 

so. See, e.g., D.C. Code § 11-944(a) (contempt for “disobedience of an order or for contempt 

committed in the presence of the court”); 28 U.S.C. § 1927 (counsel’s liability for excessive costs); 

see also generally D.C. Code § 23-1330 (preserving contempt power). The D.C. Bar, by contrast, 

has no general investigatory authority over the ethics of Department of Justice lawyers. The 

Constitution reserves that power to the Executive Branch. 

Section 530B(a) reflects this division of authority. The District of Columbia is not a “State.” 

All law in the District is federal law and Congress alone defines the nature, scope, and means of 

enforcement of all federal powers exercised here, including that of the D.C. Bar. U.S. Const., art. 

I, § 8, cl. 17 (“Seat of the Government”). Specific language is ordinarily required to treat the 

District as if it were a State. See, e.g., District of Columbia v. Carter, 409 U.S. 418, 432-33 (1973) 

(D.C. not a State for purposes of 42 U.S.C. § 1983). The United States Code is replete with 

examples where Congress has specifically defined D.C. to fall within the meaning of the term 

“State,” but only for purposes of that particular statute.6 Indeed, by contrast, Chapter 31 of part II 

of title 28 of the United States Code lacks any specialized definition section. Congress thus knows 

 
the fact that the statutes DOJ cited to extend Section 530B(a) to District of Columbia Bar rules 
point to two specific appropriations statutes mentioning the District shows that not even the DOJ 
of 1999 thought that it would be plausible to argue that D.C. Bar’s rules were “local Federal court 
rules” within the meaning of Section 530B(a) or the preamble would have made that argument. 

6 See, e.g., 28 U.S.C. § 1257(b) (“For the purposes of this section, the term ‘highest court of a 
State’ includes the District of Columbia Court of Appeals.”); 42 U.S.C. § 8285a(2) (“the term 
‘State’ means any of the several States, the District of Columbia …”); see also, e.g., 26 U.S.C. § 
170(c)(1) (applying term “charitable contribution” for tax purposes to include gifts for the use of 
“States, a possession of the United States … or the United States or the District of Columbia”);. 
And Supreme Court Rule 47 states that “[t]he term “state court,” when used in these Rules, 
includes the District of Columbia Court of Appeals.” 
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how to confer power on District authorities when it wants to. And it expressly withheld it here. 

And for good reason. The conduct that Disciplinary Counsel seeks to investigate is not 

behavior committed in the presence of a court and found by it to have violated its rules of conduct. 

Mr. Clark was a senior Executive Branch official who served as the head of two of Main Justice’s 

seven litigating divisions, each with nationwide jurisdiction. His client was the Executive Branch, 

and the power to define the nature and scope of his duties to that client and its member departments 

and agencies, and to investigate alleged violations of DOJ and other federal rules of lawyer 

conduct, rest in the first instance with the Executive Branch alone. The same holds true for 

allegations that an attorney employed by the federal government has violated federal law. 

To be clear, this does not mean that Mr. Clark is free of all ethical obligations here. DOJ 

houses both an Office of Professional Responsibility and an Office of Inspector General (“OIG”). 

The OIG is investigating the matters Senator Durbin’s complaint involves. See DOJ Office of 

Inspector General, available at https://tinyurl.com/2p9ad5tm (Jan 25, 2021) (last visited Feb. 15, 

2022). That ODC seeks, through this subpoena, to jump ahead of that investigation and, in effect, 

preempt it (rather than vice versa) is clear from ODC’s refusal to defer under Board Rule 4.1 until 

federal authorities with authority over DOJ officials complete their respective investigations. 

ODC’s rush to assert disciplinary jurisdiction in this case is a clear indication that its 

investigation is intended to thrust itself into the administration of the federal Executive Branch and 

to use its subpoena power for partisan purposes. Senator Durbin has no direct knowledge of the 

facts, and only the Department of Justice knows what information it holds concerning how and to 

what extent it investigated the 2020 election. It is undisputed that DOJ has denied the Senate 

Judiciary Committee access to DOJ’s investigative records. See Exhibit 5 (Letter, ADAG 

Weinsheimer to Mr. Clark (July 26, 2021)). It is also likely that it will object if Mr. Clark seeks 
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these records to defend against the allegations of misconduct made by Senator Durbin. 

Senator Durbin thus turned to ODC, in the hope that it would lend its subpoena power to 

the effort to advance the political narrative of his investigation. This Court should reject that end 

run around the limits on the Senate Judiciary Committee’s party balance and quash the subpoena. 

B. Under 28 U.S.C. § 530B and 28 C.F.R. § 77.2, the Bar Has No Jurisdiction 
Over Respondent Because It Does Not “Ordinarily Apply” Discipline to the 
Particular Conduct in Question. 

Even if the foregoing jurisdictional hurdle were overcome, 28 U.S.C. § 530B extends state 

bar disciplinary jurisdiction over federal government lawyers only “to the same extent and in the 

same manner as other attorneys in that State.” Similarly, the regulation subjecting lawyers working 

for the federal government to local bar disciplinary processes, 28 C.F.R. § 77.2(j)(2) (emphasis 

added), contains an important exception: it does not apply if the local jurisdiction “would not 

ordinarily apply its rules of ethical conduct to particular conduct or activity by the attorney.”  

Neither the D.C. Bar, nor any bar in America, “ordinarily” disciplines lawyers over never-

sent confidential internal discussions of letters drafted for assessment and consideration. It is 

unheard of. And neither Mr. Fox nor undersigned counsel have been able to identify any such case 

anywhere. This alone should be fatal to the Bar’s jurisdiction in this case. 

C. There Is No Precedent for Disciplining a Lawyer Over a Never-Sent 
Discussion Draft of a Document Calling for State Investigation. 

D.C. Rules of Professional Conduct (hereafter “RPC”) 8.4(c) prohibits “conduct involving 

dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.” The people to whom the draft letter was allegedly 

delivered, and whose signature would be required thereon, were the Acting Attorney General Jeff 

Rosen and the Principal Associate Deputy Attorney General Richard Donoghue. They are not 

minors or seniors with diminished capacity who might easily be misled. They are instead seasoned 

lawyers who make no claim of having been deceived and no doubt understood the draft letter to 
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be a proposal contingent on facts they were in superior possession of. Instead, they are reported to 

have vehemently rejected the draft letter, and to have persuaded the President to reject it as well. 

Of the species of misconduct prohibited by RPC 8.4(c), dishonesty sometimes appears the 

most broadly construed. In the Matter of Shorter, 570 A.2d 760, 767–68 (D.C. 1990), the lawyer 

answered questions posed by the IRS honestly, but only answered the questions asked and did not 

volunteer information not asked for that he knew they would want to know. Though not “legally 

… characterized as an act of fraud, deceit or misrepresentation,” the conduct showed “a lack of 

honesty, probity or integrity in principle; a lack of fairness and straightforwardness.” And in In re 

Romansky, 825 A.2d 311, 315–17 (D.C. 2003), the lawyer instructed an associate to record time 

to a client other than the one for whom the work was actually done. Though it was an internal 

accounting matter that did not operate to the financial detriment of either client, it was held to be 

dishonest because it simply was not true. But the conduct challenged in this case falls far short of 

even the highwater marks of RPC 8.4(c)’s reach as reflected in Shorter and Romansky. 

In this case, a privileged and confidential draft of a letter appears to have been discussed 

amongst strong-willed senior officials who had diverging access to facts, diverging views of the 

facts, diverging views of the facts’ significance, and diverging views of what ought to be done. 

There appears to have been a frank exchange of views on each of these areas of disagreement—as 

the rules of privilege and confidentiality are meant to protect and indeed foster. The matter was 

presented to the ultimate decision maker, President Trump, and after hearing differing views, he 

decided against the letter, and that was the end of the matter. RPC 8.4(c) thus has no application, 

and, to the knowledge of the undersigned, has never applied to anything like this situation. 

D. Rule 8.4(d) Does Not Apply. 

In In re Yelverton, 105 A.3d 413, 426 (D.C. 2014), this Court held that “[c]onduct violates 

RPC 8.4(d) when it is (1) improper, (2) bears directly on the judicial process with respect to an 
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identifiable case or tribunal, and (3) harms the judicial process in a more than a de minimis way.” 

(emphasis added). And In re Pearson is to the same effect, stating the third element in slightly 

different verbiage to require the conduct to “taint[s] the judicial process in more than a de minimis 

way’” 228 A.3d 417,426 (D.C. 2020), citing In re Hopkins, 677 A.2d 55, 59–61 (D.C. 1996).  

Not one of these three essential elements is remotely established by what is alleged here. 

First, confidential and privileged internal deliberations and debates over legal theories and 

arguments are not improper. Second, there is no identifiable case or tribunal because the entire 

discussion appears to have been internal and confidential, and no document was ever filed in any 

court or tribunal anywhere. Third, no judicial process was harmed because nothing was ever filed 

in any court or tribunal anywhere. RPC 8.4(d) simply does not apply to the conduct in question.  

The application of Bar discipline, at the behest of a bitter political adversary of the former 

President, to a confidential discussion draft of a letter never sent, which simply called for more 

state legislative investigation, is unprecedented, unfounded, and improper. One must ask why this 

docket was opened and whether political influence was at play.  

III .  THE POLITICAL PANDORA’S BOX HERE SHOULD NOT BE OPENED .  

It should be self-evident that a bar disciplinary process may not be appropriately used as 

an instrumentality of partisan political warfare. The country is sharply divided over the propriety 

of the 2020 election. Investigations into and litigation over the conduct of the election rage across 

many States around the country, with notable decisions finding irregularities and illegality. Absent 

affirmative misconduct in a particular case or before a particular tribunal, the Bar should not join 

the victors on the battlefield in the grisly business of dispatching the wounded, especially in a case 

such as this. Among the many evils that would ensue, the Bar’s neutrality would suffer gravely. 

Presidential Administrations change hands and weeding out frivolous complaints protects the Bar. 



 22 

A. Legislators in Georgia and Other States Called for Legislative 
Reexaminations of Their Electoral Votes. 

In Georgia, a Committee of the State Senate held hearings on election irregularities and 

found that “[t]he oral testimonies of witnesses on December 3, 2020, and subsequently, the written 

testimonies submitted by many others, provide ample evidence that the 2020 Georgia General 

Election was so compromised by systemic irregularities and voter fraud that it should not be 

certified.”7 The Report recommended, inter alia, calling a special session of the legislature to 

consider whether to rescind the certification of Georgia’ electors and determine the “proper 

Electors” for the State of Georgia. Id. at p. 15. Other States acted similarly. 

B. Under Disciplinary Counsel’s Unrestrained Theory, a Host of Members of 
Congress Who Are Lawyers Committed Ethical Violations by Questioning 
the Election. 

Numerous members of Congress over the years, especially on one side of the political 

divide, have questioned presidential election results. Indeed, the Chair of the House January 6 

Select Committee, Bennie Thompson, objected to the certification of the 2000 and 2004 

presidential elections.8 And his fellow January 6 Committee member, Jaime Raskin—both a 

lawyer and constitutional law professor—objected to certification during the 2016 presidential 

election. See Rep. Raskin Challenges Awarding of Electors, YOUTUBE, available at 

https://tinyurl.com/wa6735ty (Jan 8, 2017) (last visited Feb. 15, 2022). Indeed, Senator Durbin, 

the sole complainant here, defended Senator Boxer’s right to object to certification of the 2004 

 
7 Chairman’s Report of the Election Law Study Subcommittee of the Standing Senate Judiciary 
Committee, available at https://tinyurl.com/3dzkfmxf (Dec. 17, 2020) (last visited Feb. 15, 2022). 

8 The Congressional Black Caucus objected to the certification of Florida’s electoral votes. See 
147 Cong. Rec. H34 (Jan. 6, 2001). Representative Thompson is a member of that caucus See also 
151 Cong. Rec. H127 (Jan. 6, 2005). 
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election, assuming her good faith, even though he opted not to object himself.9 No leaked, 

purported facts show Mr. Clark to have done anything other than raise questions inside DOJ and 

at the White House about the 2020 presidential election’s regularity in particular States and 

counties. See, e.g. Trump 2d Impeachment Trial, Day 2 Tr. (Feb. 10, 2021), available at 

https://tinyurl.com/ryd3ktzk (last visited Feb. 15, 2022) (impeachment manager stating that 

President Trump “turned to Jeffrey Clark, another Department lawyer, who had allegedly 

expressed support for using the Department of Justice to investigate the election results,” going on 

to say Acting Attorney General Rosen “refuse[d] to reopen investigations”). That is a debatable, 

internal DOJ decision as to how much or little to investigate, not a disciplinary matter. 

Indeed, just as Senator Durbin did with Senator Boxer, Mr. Clark’s good faith should be 

presumed, even if his DOJ superiors and colleagues disagreed with him on the merits, just as every 

other Senator in 2004 disagreed with Senator Boxer, who stood as the sole Senator challenging the 

Bush v. Kerry election. Objections and a desire to further investigate the results of presidential 

elections are simply not the stuff of proper bar complaints, especially not by politically motivated 

complainants like Senator Durbin, who have no personal knowledge of the underlying conduct. 

In this past presidential election, 147 members of the House and Senate (including 8 

Senators (i.e., 7 more than in the 2004 election where Senator Durbin defended Senator Boxer’s 

right to object) plus 139 House members) objected to certifying Arizona’s or Pennsylvania’s 

 

9 See Amanda Prestigiacomo, Democrats Objected to Electoral Vote Certification in 2000, 2004, 
2016, DAILY WIRE (Jan. 4, 2021) (“‘Some may criticize our colleague from California for bringing 
us here for this brief debate,’ Durbin said on the Senate floor following Boxer’s objection, while 
noting that he would vote to certify the Ohio electoral votes for Bush. ‘I thank her for doing that 
because it gives members an opportunity once again on a bipartisan basis to look at a challenge 
that we face not just in the last election in one State but in many States.’”), available at 
https://tinyurl.com/yjyw7x83 (last visited Feb. 15, 2022). 
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electoral votes.10 And 35 of those members are lawyers (two of whom are former Supreme Court 

clerks, Senators Cruz and Hawley, who once were Texas Solicitor General and Missouri Attorney 

General, respectively). Are those nearly three dozen lawyer-legislators to be subjected to bar 

discipline in their respective States or in D.C., where they typically made media statements, on the 

theory that they were lying when they appeared on TV to demand more investigation or make 

factual claims? That is unthinkable and would plunge this or any state or local bar deep into purely 

political waters, taking it far afield from its traditional compass. No bar, including this one, is 

equipped to retry the presidential election and the privileged options debated inside the Executive 

Branch or with the President himself in the wake of a truly unique election where standard voting 

rules were jettisoned or changed in the wake of the COVID pandemic. See Letter, H. MacDougald 

to Chair Thompson (Nov. 5, 2021) (attached as Exhibit 6) (by attaching this letter, the executive 

privilege, deliberative process privilege, and attorney-client privilege arguments are incorporated). 

C. Leaked Media Reports of Mr. Clark’s Conduct Reflect That He Held Views 
Generally Consistent with Those of Three Dissenting Supreme Court 
Justices and 18 State Attorneys General. 

The Court should terminate this matter and preclude the Bar from re-litigating the 2020 

election by holding there is no colorable discipline case where three Supreme Court Justices and 

18 State Attorneys General raised similar questions about the 2020 election’s regularity. 

Most important in that regard is Republican Party of Pennsylvania v. Degraffenreid, 141 

S. Ct. 732 (2021). There, Justice Thomas dissented from the denial of certiorari because non-

legislative state officials had changed the statutory rules for federal elections and the appointment 

of presidential electors in violation of the Electors and Elections Clauses of the Constitution. See 

U.S. Const., art. 1, § 4, cl. 1; art. II, § 1, cl. 2. Justice Alito wrote a separate dissent joined by 

 
10 See Li Zhou, 147 Republican Lawmakers Still Objected to the Election Results After the Capitol 
Attack, VOX (Jan. 7, 2021), available as https://tinyurl.com/4v6w229c (last visited Feb. 15, 2022). 
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Justice Gorsuch to flag the same infirmity. Both dissents noted the public importance of resolving 

the questions presented. If three Justices of the Supreme Court took this view and Mr. Clark is 

alleged to have advanced similar views, bar discipline should be out of the question. 

Also relevant, Justices Thomas and Alito dissented in Texas v. Pennsylvania, 141 S. Ct. 

1230 (2020), a 2020 election challenge filed by Texas (and later joined by 17 other States) that 

complained about similar unconstitutional election-rule changes made in the so-called 

battleground States. They would have allowed Texas’s bill of complaint to be filed, potentially 

putting the merits of the election challenge before the Supreme Court. And those two Justices, 

whatever the Court’s view of their jurisprudence, surely did not act unethically in the Texas case. 

Mr. Clark was also entitled to presume, if that is what he did, that 18 State Attorneys General were 

presenting good-faith objections and for that reason to press for the President and DOJ to agree 

with the position of the State Attorneys General as well. In other words, this Court should not start 

down Disciplinary Counsel’s slippery slope lest it find itself necessarily implying that three 

Supreme Court Justices and 18 State Attorneys General were all acting beyond the pale of 

legitimate legal debate, the judicial canons, and the Model Code of Professional Responsibility. 

This Court should deny enforcement of the subpoena and act now to register its disapproval 

of this witch hunt. Doing so would send a strong signal that this Court will not allow the bar 

discipline process to be perverted for political ends, or to become a tool of persecution, inflicting 

significant legal costs on a former official like Mr. Clark and chilling the public service of those 

on either side of the aisle who must come to D.C. to serve varying presidential administrations. 

D. The View That Unlawful Election Procedures Were Used in at Least Some 
States Has Been Vindicated in Several Respects.  

The dogmatic premise of Senator Durbin’s complaint that there were no significant 

irregularities in the 2020 election, accepted by ODC as sufficient to docket this case, has been 
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refuted by subsequent judicial decisions. In McLinko v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, et al., 

No. 244 M.D. 2021, 2022 WL 257659 (Pa. Commw. Ct. Jan. 28, 2022), the Commonwealth Court 

of Pennsylvania held that Pennsylvania’s Act 77, allowance of universal mail-in balloting in 

Pennsylvania in the 2020 election, was unconstitutional under the Pennsylvania Constitution’s 

strict limitations on absentee balloting. Approximately 2.6 million absentee ballots were thus cast 

by means held unconstitutional by a Pennsylvania court, well in excess of the margin of Biden 

victory.11 McLinko thus bears out the views of Justices Thomas, Alito, and Gorsuch. 

The Wisconsin Supreme Court, in a 4-3 ruling in Trump v. Biden, 394 Wis. 2d 629, 951 

N.W.2d 568 cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 1387 (2021), declined to consider whether drop boxes were 

illegal under Wisconsin law. The three dissenters, all writing separately but all joining the other 

dissents, concluded in exceptionally strong terms that the drop box procedures in the 2020 election, 

used by “hundreds of thousands of voters,” were clearly illegal, also exceeding the margin of 

victory. And on January 14, 2022, a Wisconsin trial court ruled that drop boxes were illegal under 

Wisconsin law, in apparent accord with the views of the dissenters in Trump v. Biden.12 Of course, 

the Judges taking either position were not acting unethically. Being on the losing side in a 

controversy, internal or external (but especially internal), does not equate to unethical conduct. 

 Additionally, a post-election audit of the 2020 election in Maricopa County, Arizona 

conducted by the Arizona Senate found, inter alia. substantial defects in signature verification, 

including the presence of 17,322 duplicates (alone exceeding the margin of victory), and 

 
11 See https://tinyurl.com/2p8u55cn (last visited Feb. 15, 2022) 

12 Moreover, on Friday, February 11, 2022, the Wisconsin Supreme Court reportedly voted 4-3 the 
other way to allow a trial court order banning drop boxes to remain in effect for an April 2022 
local election. See Zach Montellaro, Wisconsin State Supreme Court Lets Ban on Drop Boxes Go 
Into Effect for Spring Election, POLITICO (Feb. 11, 2022), available at 
https://tinyurl.com/y32cy8xc (last visited Feb. 15, 2022). 
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intentional and substantial spoliation of digital records on the voting equipment shortly before it 

was delivered for forensic examination.13 

While not yet the subject of a judicial decision on the merits, evidence has emerged of a 

vast scheme to violate Georgia’s law against ballot harvesting, O.C.G.A. § 21-2-385(a), which was 

in effect for the 2020 election. That statute permits only near relatives or cohabitants to mail or 

deliver absentee ballots. Strong evidence has emerged since 2020 proving this limitation was 

violated on a large-scale basis in Georgia and other battleground States with similar laws. 

An election integrity group, “True the Vote,” has collected cell phone location data in key 

election hotspots around the country including Georgia, Arizona, Wisconsin, Pennsylvania, and 

Michigan. See Matthew Boyle, Exclusive—True The Vote Conducting Massive Clandestine Voter 

Fraud Investigation, BREITBART, available at https://tinyurl.com/3bwujuxv (Aug. 4, 2021) (last 

visited Feb. 15, 2022). “[True the Vote’s] document says that [it] has spent the last several months 

since late last year collecting more than 27 terabytes of geospatial and temporal data—a total of 

10 trillion cell phone pings—between Oct. 1 and Nov. 6 in targeted areas in Georgia, Arizona, 

Michigan, Wisconsin, Pennsylvania, and Texas. The data includes geofenced points of interest like 

ballot dropbox locations, as well as UPS stores and select government, commercial, and non-

governmental organization (NGO) facilities.” Id.  

As a result of a complaint by True the Vote, the Georgia Secretary of State’s Office is now 

investigating the ballot harvesting scheme in Georgia. See John Solomon, Georgia Opens 

Investigation Into Possible Illegal Ballot Harvesting in 2020 Election (Jan. 4, 2022), available at 

 

13 See Michael Patrick Leahy, Arizona Senate Report on the Maricopa County Election Audit 
Highlights 49,000 Questionable Votes, Asks AG to Investigate, BREITBART (Sept. 25, 2021), 
available at https://tinyurl.com/4kh45tup (last visited Feb. 15, 2022). This is the same 
investigation that the Biden DOJ’s Civil Rights Division threatened to derail in a letter actually 
sent to the State of Arizona. See https://tinyurl.com/2437rmb6 (last visited Feb. 15, 2022). 
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https://tinyurl.com/yprpt44m (last visited Feb. 15, 2022). True the Vote has identified a 

confidential whistleblower who claims he was paid $10 per ballot he put into dropboxes. 

The expert affidavit of Gregg Phillips, filed April 8, 2021 in Schmitz v. Barron, et al., Fulton 

Super. Ct, Civ. A. No. 2020CV342969, describes his geotracking analysis of 1.2 trillion mobile 

device signals showing 240 unique devices making multiple runs to and from drop boxes. Mr. 

Phillips concludes that “[a]round 7% of the total votes in Fulton County, GA (or 36,000 of the total 

votes in Fulton) were influenced by this ballot harvesting scheme after taking into consideration 

the amount of targeted devices and the frequency of drop box visits.” Exhibit 7 at ¶ 46. If correct, 

this was a systematic violation of O.C.G.A. § 21-2-385(a) and exceeded the margin of victory. See 

id. This pattern of conduct is further documented in dropbox surveillance video collected by local 

governments and obtained by True the Vote. Filmmaker and conservative commentator Dinesh 

D’Souza has announced a movie called “2,000 Mules”. While information on the film is currently 

quite limited, the trailer claims to show “never before seen security footage” of ballot harvesters. 

The video shows these alleged harvesters (termed “mules” by the filmmakers) stuffing what appear 

to be multiple ballots or even sets of ballots into ballot boxes, with some then “snapping photos 

[on their phones] to get paid.” https://tinyurl.com/2p86dznj (last visited Feb. 15, 2022). 

There was ample evidence before January 4, 2021 that could cause a reasonable attorney 

to be skeptical of some parts of the 2020 election. Further evidence has emerged since then, and 

in some States it has even ripened into trial and appellate court decisions revealing that the 

elections in Wisconsin and Pennsylvania were conducted unlawfully, at least in part.  

CONCLUSION 

ODC has no proper role investigating Respondent here and, at the very least, it should 

await the conclusion of federal and state investigations before trying to do so. For the foregoing 

reasons, ODC’s motion should be denied and the cross-motion to quash should be granted. 



 
 

Respectfully submitted this 15th day of February 2022. 
 
/s/ Charles Burnham   
 
Charles Burnham 
DC Bar No. 1003464 
1424 K Street, NW 
Suite 500 
Washington DC 20005 
(202) 386-6920 
charles@burnhamgorokhov.com 
 
 
Harry W. MacDougald* 
Georgia Bar No. 453076 
Two Ravinia Drive, Suite 1600 
Atlanta, Georgia 30346 
(404) 843-1956 
hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com 

* Motion for pro hac vice admission in 
progress   

Robert A. Destro* 
Ohio Bar #0024315 
4532 Langston Blvd, #520 
Arlington, VA 22207 
202-319-5303 
robert.destro@protonmail.com 

*Motion for pro hac vice admission in 
progress 

  
 



 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I have on this day served counsel for the opposing party with a copy 

of this Response to Motion to Compel and Cross-Motion to Quash by U.S. First Class Mail with 

sufficient postage thereon to insure delivery, and by email addressed to: 

Hamilton P. Fox 
D.C. Bar 
Building A, Room 117 
515 5th Street NW 
Washington DC 20001 
foxp@dcodc.org  
 
This 15th day of February 2022.  

 
/s/ Charles Burnham   
 
Charles Burnham 
DC Bar No. 1003464 

1424 K Street, NW 
Suite 500 
Washington DC 20005 

6920-(202) 386  
charles@burnhamgorokhov.com 



Exh. 1 

Affidavit of Robert N. Driscoll 



DCCANO.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

COURT OFAPPEALS

In the Matter of

CONFIDENTIAL (J.B.C), ESQ. Disciplinary Docket

Respondent, No. 2021-D193

A member of the Bar of the District
of Columbia Court of Appeals

AFFIDAVIT OF ROBERT N. DRISCOLL

Personally appeared before the undersigned officer, duly authorized to

administer oaths, Robert N. Driscoll, who, after being duly sworn, testified and

stated as follows:

1.

My name is Robert N. Driscoll. 1 am over the age of 18, suffer no mental

imparities, and have personal knowledgeofthe following:

2.

1am an attorney licensed to practice law in the District of Columbia since

2004 and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts since 1994. T am admitted to the

barsofthe U.S. Supreme Court, the U.S. Courts of Appeals for the First, Seventh,

‘Tenth and D.C. Circuits, various U.S. District Courts, and the District of Columbia



Court ofAppeals. I am a member of the law firm McGlinchey Stafford PLLC, a

national firm with approximately 155 lawyers in offices in 15 cities, including

Washington, D.C.

3

I represented Respondent in connection with investigations by various

congressional committees, including the January 6 Select Committee, and briefly

in connection with the above-referenced disciplinary matter. All of my

representationofRespondent ended on October 25, 2021.

4

My first contact with any member of the DC Bar Office of Disciplinary

Counsel regarding any potential disciplinary issue related to Respondent came on

October 14, 2021, at 4:57 PM. At that time, I received a voice mail from Hamilton

P. Fox, Disciplinary Counsel for the District of Columbia Bar, which stated as

follows: “Mr. Driscoll, my name is Hamilton Fox. I am the disciplinary counsel for

the District of Columbia. T am calling you on the assumption that you represent

[Respondent]. Uh, would you give me a call please? Uh, my direct dial telephone

number is [redacted].

5.

‘The next day, on October 15, 2021, at 11:29 AM, I called Mr. Fox. We spoke

for a few minutes. He indicated that the D.C. Bar had received a complaint from a.

2



third party about Respondent, and that Mr. Fox would forward it to me and that

Respondent could respondif we wished to. No mention was made ofa subpoena,

or of accepting service ofa subpoena. No agreement was made between me and

Mr. Fox regarding serviceof any process or subpoena nor any deadline for

responding.

6.

On November 22, 2021, at 10:37AM, I received a voicemail from Mr. Fox

which said as follows: “Uh Bob this is Phil Fox over at the OfficeofDisciplinary

Counsel. Uh, it has not escaped my attention that I've had no response whatsoever

to either what we call the B-letter thatI sent to you, uh to [Respondent] care of

you, or the subpoena. Uh, nor have we had a response to what we call the D-letter,

which is our procedure for the follow-up, which was due on Friday. So, we are

preparing motions to compel. Un,if you don’t want to go that route uh give me a

call, [redacted]. T suspect we'll have the motions uh certainly by tomorrow — filed

by tomorrow morning,ifnot today. Thanks.”

7.

I called Mr. Fox at 10:40 AM on November 22, 2021, immediately after

listening to his voice mail. told him thatI had not received anything from the

OfficeofDisciplinary Counsel at all, that I no longer represented Respondent, and

that Respondent was now represented by Harry MacDougald.

3



8.

then made immediate and urgent efforts to check all incoming mail and

email to confirm I had not received anything from Mr. Fox — I had not. Indeed, I

have never received any written correspondenceofany kind, (mail, email or

electronic message) from the Office of Disciplinary Counsel.

9.

Once I had doubled-checked for mail and searched my email system

(including filters) to confirm I had not received any correspondenceofany kind

regarding Respondent, I called Mr. Fox again at 11:19AM on November 22,2021,

and confirmed to him that T had searched all electronic records and regular mail,

and thatT had received no letter or any other document from the Office of

Disciplinary Counsel regarding Respondent by email, regular mail, or other means.

10.

‘The totality of my communications with Mr. Fox before withdrawing from

representing Respondent were the voice mail described in paragraph 4 above and

the telephone conversation described in paragraph 5 above.

mn.

Atno point did I ever agree on behalfofRespondent to accept service ofa.

subpoena from Mr. Fox, nor agree on any due dates for responses to any such

subpoena. Indeed, I was unawareofthe existence of any subpoena related to

4



Respondent until contacted by his successor counsel regarding this mater, and I

certainly did not agree to accept service of a subpoena or agree to a deadline for

any response.

iy) N. Dffscoll

Sworn to and subscribed before me, this 11 dayofFebruary, 2022.

&bch oz lag (seal)
Notary Public 00040 15,My commission expires: [/-3 © -2025 Sle,

S¥ “5%fF ez-oemy §°

35 SESEoptREE
“0 TAC
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Exh. 2 

Affidavit of Jeffrey B. Clark



DCCA NO. 22-BS-0059 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

COURT OF APPEALS 

In the Matter of 

CONFIDENTIAL (J.B.C.), ESQ. 

Respondent, 

A member of the Bar of the District of 
Columbia Court of Appeals 

Disciplinary Docket 

No. 2021-D193 

AFFIDAVIT OF JEFFREY B. CLARK 

Personally appeared before the undersigned officer, duly authorized to administer oaths, 

Jeffrey B. Clark, who, after being duly sworn, testified and stated as follows: 

1. 

My name is Jeffrey B. Clark. I am over the age of 18, suffer no mental imparities. and 

have personal knowledge of the following: 

2. 

I am an attorney licensed to practice law in the District of Columbia since 1997. I am 

admitted to the bars of the U.S. Supreme Court, the U.S. Courts of Appeal for all Circuits, the 

U.S. District Court for Southern District of Alabama, the District of Columbia, District of 

Nebraska, and Eastern District of Texas, as well as the Court of Federal Claims. I am the 

Respondent in the above-referenced matter. 



3. 

I was previously represented in this matter by Robert N. Driscoll. However, that 

engagement terminated on October 25, 2021. Between October 25, 2021 and mid-January 2022, 

I was seeking counsel to represent me in this matter. 

4. 

I began corresponding directly with Hamilton Fox, the D.C. Bar Disciplinary Counsel in 

late November 2021 into early December 2022, especially after discovering that emails notifying 

me of documents from the DC Bar being available on a file sharing service had been caught in 

my spam filter. As a result, I had not received or been able to retrieve the material Mr. Fox's 

assistant had been trying to send me. I emailed Mr. Fox about this problem on December 2, 

2021, and he replied the same day. See Exh. 1. 

5. 

On December 3, 2021, I tested positive for Covid, and let Mr. Fox know about that via 

email shortly thereafter. He very graciously gave me time to recover, which took the month of 

December and required a hospital trip to receive monoclonal antibodies. 

6. 

When I had recovered from Covid, I had an email dialog with Mr. Fox and one of his 

assistants. Delivery problems persisted such that I did not receive a complete copy of Mr. Fox's 

letter transmitting the subpoena and its attachments until January 6, 2022. Mr. Fox and I agreed 

that I would respond to the subpoena on January 31, 2022. 

2 



7. 

At no point did I agree to accept legal service of the subpoena by email. 

lark 

Sworn to and sj_lusribed b me, this 15 day of February, 2022. 

Notary Public 
My commission expires:  6c1 b612,02-3 

KIRAN R. SHRESTHA 
NOTARY PUBLIC 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA 
REGISTRATION #7130618 

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES APRIL 30, 2023 

3 



Clark Affidavit 
 

Exh. 1 
 
 



From: Jeffrey Clark - To: Phil Fox - Cc: Harry MacDougald - Date: December 2, 2021 at 11:29 AM
Subject: RE: [EXT]DC Bar Correspondence

Thank you Mr. Fox and I wish you are at your professional best in the argument.
 
Jeff Clark
 
From: Phil Fox < dcodc.org> 
Sent: Thursday, December 2, 2021 11:24 AM
To: Jeffrey Clark <
Cc: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Subject: RE: [EXT]DC Bar Correspondence
 
I am preparing for an argument at 2:00 today.  I have asked my secretary to resend the
material, but I am confident that you have most of it since it is the public record stuff from the
Judiciary Committee.  I’ll get back to you after the argument.  For future reference, my direct
dial number is  202/454-1728.
 
From: Jeffrey Clark <  
Sent: Thursday, December 2, 2021 11:12 AM
To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Cc: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Subject: [EXT]DC Bar Correspondence
Importance: High
 
Mr. Fox,
 
Apologies.  After I discovered a few days ago that materials from some kind of dropbox-like site were sitting
in my spam folder and emailing with Ms. Thornton, I was hoping to give you a call yesterday, but the January
6 Committee is setting unrealistic deadlines.  Despite the fact that my lawyer has a hearing in Atlanta on
Friday, they are insisting on a second deposition on Saturday, and I need to use the time between now and
then to get ready.
 
Juggling a lot on my end and so don’t have the to-spam emails in front of me but my understanding is that
they indicated the dropbox-type access expired on 11/29.  So it would be best if you re-sent them to me, if
that is not too much to ask.  Given the spam problem, I authorize you to send anything you need to, to me to
this email address as direct attachments, but maybe with a CONFIDENTIAL header on it, assuming the file
size is not too large that they will go through as ordinary attachments.  If there is a file-size issue, please re-
ripen the dropbox-type access but send me an email here, since your test on that (when the sending email
address was yours and not the more general email address) worked, to let me know to check my spam box. 
When I can free up some time, I’ll figure out how to put that general address you use to keep confidentiality
into my trusted senders or whatever the Outlook term is for that in the program.
 
Also, I will need to get separate counsel for this and to contact my malpractice carrier to inquire re how that
works as no claim has ever been filed against me in my 25-year career, so I am not familiar with any of
these processes. My lawyer for the Committee interaction may be able to help me for a bit but I think I
should retain someone who regularly practices ethics law to assist me and that will take some time to find
and get retention/insurance arrangements worked out with, particularly given that the political issues
involved impact the pool of lawyers that I can attract.  I’ve copied my lawyer for Committee matters, Mr.
Harry MacDougald here, for the limited temporary purpose of helping me as I search for ethics counsel.
 
I hope you will bear with me. The legal issues here are far from ordinary.
 
Thank you very much Mr. Fox.
 
Respectfully submitted,

mailto:hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com


 
Jeff Clark



Exh. 3 

Affidavit of Harry W. MacDougald



DCCA NO. 22-BS-0059 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

COURT OF APPEALS 

 
In the Matter of 

CONFIDENTIAL (J.B.C.), ESQ. 

 Respondent, 

A member of the Bar of the District of 
Columbia Court of Appeals 

 

Disciplinary Docket  

No. 2021-D193 

 

 
AFFIDAVIT OF HARRY W. MACDOUGALD 

Personally appeared before the undersigned officer, duly authorized to administer oaths, 

Harry W. MacDougald, who, after being duly sworn, testified and stated as follows: 

1. 

My name is Harry W. MacDougald.  I am over the age of 18, suffer no mental imparities, 

and have personal knowledge of the following: 

2. 

I am an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Georgia since 1985. I am 

admitted to the bars of the U.S. Supreme Court, the U.S. Courts of Appeal for the 11th and D.C. 

Circuits, and the Northern and Southern U.S. District Courts in Georgia, and all Georgia trial and 

appellate courts. I am a partner in Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP in Atlanta, 

Georgia. 

3. 

I represent the Respondent in connection with the January 6 Select Committee and in 

connection with the above-referenced disciplinary matter. I did not begin representing 
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Respondent in the above-referenced matter until January, 2022, though I was copied on some 

emails between the Respondent and Disciplinary Counsel beginning December 2, 2021 while 

Respondent was looking for other counsel to represent him in this matter. 

4. 

At no point did I ever agree on behalf of the Respondent to accept service of a subpoena 

from Mr. Fox, nor agree on any due dates for responses to any such subpoena.  

5. 

On the afternoon of January 28, 2022, I had a telephone conversation with Phil Fox, D.C. 

Bar Disciplinary Counsel. I told Mr. Fox we would not be producing any documents in response 

to the subpoena and whether, in light of that, asked if the Respondent needed to appear at the Bar 

offices in response to the subpoena. Mr. Fox replied that Respondent was not required to appear 

but that we “would be in court very quickly” on a motion to compel. He indicated that asserting 

the act of production privilege would be frivolous and that doing so would not stand Respondent 

in good stead when it came time for imposing disciplinary sanctions. He added “I promise you I 

will ratchet up” the sanction to be imposed if we asserted the Fifth. 

6. 

At 8:30 PM Friday evening, January 28, 2022, Mr. Fox sent me an email, attached hereto 

as Exh. 1, in which he reiterated this threat as follows: 

Just to be clear, because our proceedings are not criminal, if we bring charges, we 
will contend that any assertion of the privilege against self-incrimination can be 
construed against Mr. Clark on the merits and may be considered in aggravation of 
any sanction. We have not yet decided whether to bring charges, but a frivolous 
assertion of the privilege may lead to an additional charge or may the basis of an 
independent specification of charges in the event that we conclude not to bring 
charges on the underlying matters. 
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7. 

On the morning of Saturday February 5, 2022, I received an email from Mr. Fox’s 

assistant, Angela Thornton, which attached a letter from Mr. Fox dated February 3, 3022 

purporting to transmit his motion to compel and the exhibits thereto. However, Ms. Thornton’s 

email included only the letter, and not the motion or any of its exhibits. See Exh. 2. 

8. 

I promptly replied to Ms. Thornton and said that I didn’t see the motion. Ms. Thornton 

replied “Motion? No motion with this email, just the letter addressed to you from Mr. Fox.” I 

replied as follows:  

The first sentence of the letter says: "Accompanying this letter is a Motion to 
Compel that we filed with the Court of Appeals today.” 

That is the motion after which I am inquiring. 

Thanks for any help you can provide on that. 

Id. 

9. 

After about an hour with no response from Ms. Thornton, I emailed her again at 11:05 

AM, saying the following: 

Ms. Thornton: 

The letter you sent me this morning from Mr. Fox is dated 2/3, and states it is being 
transmitted to me on 2/3 via email.  However, I do not have an email from 2/3 from 
Mr. Fox, or a letter from Mr. Fox sent to me that day, much less a copy of the motion 
it says is enclosed. 

And today, your email transmitting the letter did not include the motion either. 

I did receive some document production via a file share type of thing, but there was 
no motion in there, either. 
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It’s possible I have missed something as I was in court all day Thursday and had 
outpatient surgery yesterday, but searching my emails I don’t have anything from Mr. 
Fox on 2/3. Perhaps someone else in your office sent it?  

In any event, we would appreciate your sending us the motion at your earliest 
convenience and letting me know one way or the other whether I have overlooked its 
prior transmittal from your office. 

Thanks in advance. 

Id. 

10. 

Ms. Thornton never responded to three emails to her asking for a copy of the motion. 

Therefore, at 5:20 PM I emailed this conversation to Mr. Fox, informed him I still did not have 

the motion, and asking if he could please email it to me. Mr. Fox responded promptly, and we 

exchanged numerous emails on the topic. See Exh. 3. The upshot of those emails was that I 

received an email with the motion attached, but never received an email with the exhibits. Mr. 

Fox was clearly exerting himself to deliver the documents to me, and indicated he had emailed 

the exhibits, but I never got them. He identified the exhibits, which were documents that I 

already had. He added that he would send the motion and exhibits via FedEx on Monday. Id. at 

p. 2. 

11. 

By mid-afternoon Friday February 11, 2022, I still had not received the motion by regular 

mail, nor had I received any of the exhibits via email, nor had I received a FedEx delivery as Mr. 

Fox had indicated the previous Saturday would be forthcoming. I therefore emailed Mr. Fox to 

let him know I still had not received the exhibits and would he mind putting the material on a file 

sharing site for download. Mr. Fox replied that he would look into it but “I am pretty sure that we 

sent the complete package by FedEx last Monday and that we have the receipt.” See Exh. 4. 
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12. 

In response to that information, two assistants and I looked in every office in our firm and 

queried everyone in the office but we could not find any such FedEx package. We also had 

someone check on the 16th floor of the two other buildings in our office park to seek if perhaps 

the package had been misdelivered, but we could not find it that way either. Id. 

13. 

I kept Mr. Fox apprised of these efforts as they unfolded and asked him if he could 

identify who had signed for the package, or perhaps give me the tracking number and we would 

check that ourselves. Id. At first he indicated that would have to wait until Monday, but among 

several emails passing between us that afternoon, Mr. Fox forwarded me the FedEx airbill for the 

delivery. See Exh. 5. This email was actually received before my last reply to Mr. Fox asking for 

the tracking number in Exh. 4, but I did not see it until after I sent that reply because I was 

looking around the office trying to find the package. Once I saw the airbill, which has the 

tracking number on it, I entered that tracking number into the FedEx package tracking webpage. 

The result was that there was no such tracking number in the FedEx system. I then had two 

assistants search for the tracking number on the FedEx website with the same result. I relayed 

that information to Mr. Fox. See Exh. 6. For reasons unknown to me, it appears this package 

tracking number never made it into the FedEx system. 

14. 

On February 14, 2022, Mr. Fox’s assistant. Ms. Thornton sent me a DropBox link from 

which I was able to download Mr. Fox’s letter of February 3, 2022 (which I had first received 

February 5, 2022), and the motion with all of its exhibits. This was the first time I had received 

the complete package of the motion and all of its exhibits. 



15.

On February 15, 2022, I received delivery ofa FedEx packagebearingthe same airbll

numberasthe oneMr. Foxemailed meon February 11thatisattachedtoExh.6.Theairbill was

filledouton February 7, but the FedEx tracking history shows that itfirstentered the FedEx

system on February 14, 2022. Exh. 7 7

, Harry W. MacDougald

Swom toIrbed before me, this 15 dayof February, 2022.

Notary Public
My commission expires: -

TETTERAR
wsCon Bde4,208
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MacDougald Affidavit 
 

Exh. 1 
 
 



From: Phil Fox - To: hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com - Cc:  - Date: January 28, 2022 at 8:30 PM
Subject: Re: [EXT]Jeffrey Clark

Just to be clear, because our proceedings are not criminal, if we bring charges, we will contend that any
assertion of the privilege against self-incrimination can be construed against Mr. Clark on the merits and may
 be considered in aggravation of any sanction. We have not yet decided whether to bring charges, but a frivolous
assertion of the privilege may lead to an additional charge or may the basis of an independent specification of
charges in the event that we conclude not to bring charges on the underlying matters.

Get Outlook for iOS

From: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Sent: Friday, January 28, 2022 3:34 PM
To: Phil Fox
Subject: RE: [EXT]Jeffrey Clark
 
Any time is fine including tonight or this weekend. My direct rings over to my cell, which is 404-388-8622.

Best,

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956
Direct: 404-843-4109

From: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Date: January 28, 2022 at 3:32:32 PM
To: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Subject:  RE: [EXT]Jeffrey Clark 

I am in the middle of a meeting.  How long will you be available?

 

From: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com> 
Sent: Friday, January 28, 2022 3:32 PM
To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Subject: [EXT]Jeffrey Clark

 

Mr. Fox:

 

Can you give me a call at the number below regarding Mr. Clarke’s response to your subpoena?
Maybe 5 min.

 



Thanks.

 

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956

Direct: 404-843-4109



MacDougald Affidavit 
 

Exh. 2 
 
 



From: hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com - To: Angela Thornton - Cc:  - Date: February 5, 2022 at 11:05 AM
Subject: RE: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary

Ms. Thornton:

The letter you sent me this morning from Mr. Fox is dated 2/3, and states it is being transmitted to me on
2/3 via email.  However, I do not have an email from 2/3 from Mr. Fox, or a letter from Mr. Fox sent to me
that day, much less a copy of the motion it says is enclosed.

And today, your email transmitting the letter did not include the motion either.

I did receive some document production via a file share type of thing, but there was no motion in there,
either.

It’s possible I have missed something as I was in court all day Thursday and had outpatient surgery
yesterday, but searching my emails I don’t have anything from Mr. Fox on 2/3. Perhaps someone else in your
office sent it? 

In any event, we would appreciate your sending us the motion at your earliest convenience and letting me
know one way or the other whether I have overlooked its prior transmittal from your office.

Thanks in advance.

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956
Direct: 404-843-4109

From: hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Date: February 5, 2022 at 10:09:17 AM
To: Angela Thornton 
Subject:  RE: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-D193 

The first sentence of the letter says "Accompanying this letter is a Motion to Compel that we filed
with the Court of Appeals today.”

That is the motion after which I am inquiring.

Thanks for any help you can provide on that.

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956
Direct: 404-843-4109

From: Angela Thornton <
Date: February 5, 2022 at 10:07:03 AM
To: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Subject:  RE: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-D193 

Motion? No motion with this email, just the letter addressed to you from



Mr. Fox.

 

From: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com> 
Sent: Saturday, February 5, 2022 10:06 AM
To: Angela Thornton <
Subject: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-
D193

 

I don’t see the motion

 

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956

Direct: 404-843-4109

From: Angela Thornton <
Date: February 5, 2022 at 9:11:50 AM
To: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Subject:  in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-D193

Dear Mr. MacDougald, please see letter attached from Mr.
Fox, Disciplinary Counsel.  If there are questions or concerns,
please don’t hesitate to let us know.  Thank you.

 

Regards,

 

Angela



MacDougald Affidavit 
 

Exh. 3 
 

 



From: Phil Fox - To: hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com - Cc:  - Date: February 5, 2022 at 6:12 PM
Subject: Re: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary Docket

The attachments, actually exhibits, are all things you have: the November letter and subpoena to Clark; the
email chain, which is also attached to one of your January 31 letters, about the difficulty we had then in
getting all the materials to Clark; and your letter asserting the Fifth. I will make sure a hard copy of
everything is sent to you on Monday. I don’t understand why we are having such difficulty transmitting this
stuff. We have been doing virtually everything electronically for two years, and I am unaware of any other
case where we have had these problems. 

Get Outlook for iOS

From: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Sent: Saturday, February 5, 2022 6:01:41 PM
To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Subject: RE: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-D193
 
I got the email transmitting the motion and saying the attachments would come separately, but haven’t seen
those yet.

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956
Direct: 404-843-4109

From: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Date: February 5, 2022 at 5:59:48 PM
To: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Cc: Azadeh Matinpour <  Angela Thornton <  Jason Horrell
<
Subject:  RE: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-D193 

I just resent everything—first the motion and then the motion with the attachments.  Nothing
bounced back.  Did you get them?

 

From: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com> 
Sent: Saturday, February 5, 2022 5:39 PM
To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Subject: RE: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-D193

 

Thanks - much appreciated. 

 

Have a good rest of your weekend.

 

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600



Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956

Direct: 404-843-4109

From: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Date: February 5, 2022 at 5:36:28 PM
To: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Subject:  RE: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-D193

I don’t know without looking, but I am not going to take advantage of your failure to
receive it.

 

From: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com> 
Sent: Saturday, February 5, 2022 5:35 PM
To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Subject: Re: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary Docket No.
2021-D193

 

I received the letter this morning but no motion.

 

I know it’s not your job to help me read the rules, but I’ll go ahead and ask - is it
correct that we have a 7 calendar day response time for responding to motions?

 

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956

Direct: 404-843-4109

From: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Date: February 5, 2022 at 5:32:30 PM
To: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Subject:  Re: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary Docket No.
2021-D193

It is just the letter and the motion. If I can't get it to you, we will FedEx
it Monday. I will try again.

 

Get Outlook for iOS

From: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>



From: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Sent: Saturday, February 5, 2022 5:28:53 PM
To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Subject: Re: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary
Docket No. 2021-D193

 

No sir, I have not seen it yet. I got this one, but I haven’t seen the other
one  with the motion. I checked my online spam folder as well. Not sure
what’s going on with that. Is it a particularly large attachment?

 

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956

Direct: 404-843-4109

From: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Date: February 5, 2022 at 5:25:43 PM
To: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Subject:  Re: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel - Disciplinary
Docket No. 2021-D193

Did you get the email with the motion that I just sent you?

 

Get Outlook for iOS

From: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Sent: Saturday, February 5, 2022 5:20:02 PM
To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Subject: Fwd: RE: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel
- Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-D193

 

Mr. Fox:

 

Please see the correspondence below. No response to three
emails to Ms. Thornton asking for the motion. I still do not
have the motion referred to in your letter of 2/3, which I
just received this morning. 

 

If you could please send me the motion at your earliest
convenience, I’d appreciate it.

 

Thanks in advance.



 

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956

Direct: 404-843-4109

From: hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com
<hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Date: February 5, 2022 at 11:05:33 AM
To: Angela Thornton <
Subject:  RE: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary Counsel -
Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-D193

Ms. Thornton:

 

The letter you sent me this morning from Mr.
Fox is dated 2/3, and states it is being
transmitted to me on 2/3 via email.  However, I
do not have an email from 2/3 from Mr. Fox, or
a letter from Mr. Fox sent to me that day, much
less a copy of the motion it says is enclosed.

 

And today, your email transmitting the letter did
not include the motion either.

 

I did receive some document production via a
file share type of thing, but there was no motion
in there, either.

 

It’s possible I have missed something as I was
in court all day Thursday and had outpatient
surgery yesterday, but searching my emails I
don’t have anything from Mr. Fox on 2/3.
Perhaps someone else in your office sent it? 

 

In any event, we would appreciate your sending
us the motion at your earliest convenience and
letting me know one way or the other whether I
have overlooked its prior transmittal from your
office.

 

Thanks in advance.

 



-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956

Direct: 404-843-4109

From: hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com
<hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Date: February 5, 2022 at 10:09:17 AM
To: Angela Thornton <
Subject:  RE: [EXT]Re: in re Clark/Disciplinary
Counsel - Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-D193

The first sentence of the letter says
"Accompanying this letter is a
Motion to Compel that we filed with
the Court of Appeals today.”

 

That is the motion after which I am
inquiring.

 

Thanks for any help you can provide
on that.

 

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach,
LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956

Direct: 404-843-4109

From: Angela Thornton
<
Date: February 5, 2022 at 10:07:03
AM
To: Harry MacDougald
<hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Subject:  RE: [EXT]Re: in re
Clark/Disciplinary Counsel -
Disciplinary Docket No. 2021-D193



Motion? No motion
with this email, just
the letter addressed
to you from Mr.
Fox.

 

From: Harry
MacDougald
<hmacdougald@ccedla
w.com> 
Sent: Saturday,
February 5, 2022 10:06
AM
To: Angela Thornton
<
>
Subject: [EXT]Re: in re
Clark/Disciplinary
Counsel - Disciplinary
Docket No. 2021-D193

 

I don’t see the motion

 

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott
& DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956

Direct: 404-843-4109

From: Angela Thornton
<
>
Date: February 5, 2022
at 9:11:50 AM
To: Harry MacDougald
<hmacdougald@ccedla
w.com>
Subject:  in re
Clark/Disciplinary
Counsel - Disciplinary
Docket No. 2021-D193

 

Dear Mr.
MacDoug
ald,
please see



letter
attached
from Mr.
Fox,
Disciplina
ry
Counsel. 
If there
are
questions
or
concerns,
please
don’t
hesitate to
let us
know. 
Thank
you.

 

Regards,

 

Angela
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From: Phil Fox - To: hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com - Cc: Angela Thornton - Date: February 11, 2022 at 5:14 PM
Subject: RE: [EXT]Service Copy of Motion

That will have to wait until next week.
 
From: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com> 
Sent: Friday, February 11, 2022 5:13 PM
To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Subject: RE: [EXT]Service Copy of Motion
 
I received an email from Ms. Thornton sent at 11 AM transmitting your letter of today’s date and
attachments consisting of correspondence between you and Mr. Weinsheimer dated Feb 7 and 8 respectively,
for which you have my thanks.
 
If you or Ms. Thornton can give us the tracking number for the FedEx package we can look up who signed for
it.
 
Both me and my assistant checked all the offices in our suite and asked everyone who is still here and no
sign of it. Our office manager has not seen it either. We also checked the 16th floor of the other two buildings
in our office park and nothing there either - one of them is vacant anyway. There’s no one at home in the
other suites on our floor so we don’t know if it might have gone to one of them by mistake. So the next
available step is to let us know who signed for it or give us the tracking number so we can check ourselves.
 
Thank you in advance.
 
-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956
Direct: 404-843-4109

From: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Date: February 11, 2022 at 4:59:31 PM
To: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Subject:  RE: [EXT]Service Copy of Motion

I don’t.  Angela might next week.  Did you receive the email and attachments that
we sent you this morning?
 
From: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com> 
Sent: Friday, February 11, 2022 4:58 PM
To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>



To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Subject: RE: [EXT]Service Copy of Motion
 
Do you have a name of who signed for it?
 
-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956
Direct: 404-843-4109

From: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Date: February 11, 2022 at 4:41:38 PM
To: 
Subject:  RE: [EXT]Service Copy of Motion

We’ll look into that, but I am pretty sure that we sent the complete
package by FedEx last Monday and that we have the receipt.
 
From: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com> 
Sent: Friday, February 11, 2022 4:31 PM
To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Subject: [EXT]Service Copy of Motion
 
Mr. Fox:
 
While our building’s mail has not yet arrived today (even though it’s a 17 story
building), I still have not received the mail service copy of your motion to compel,
and never did receive the emails transmitting the exhibits.
 
Would you mind perhaps using a file sharing service like DropBox or the like to get
the full set to me electronically?
 
Thanks in advance.
 
-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956
Direct: 404-843-4109
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From: Phil Fox - To: hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com - Cc:  - Date: February 11, 2022 at 4:48 PM, Attachments: 2021-D193 fedex 
shipping bill 02072022.pdf

Subject: FW: In re Clark - DDNo. 2021-D193

Here is the information about the FedEx shipment.  We will still look at an alternative way to
transmit documents.
 
From: Angela Thornton <  
Sent: Monday, February 7, 2022 1:47 PM
To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>; Jason Horrell <  Azadeh Matinpour
<
Subject: In re Clark - DDNo. 2021-D193
 
David sent the letter and the motions with all attachments to Resp’s Counsel, via fedex.  Fedex
shipping label is attached.  It will be delivered tomorrow morning
 
Angela
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From: hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com - To: Phil Fox - Cc:  - Date: February 11, 2022 at 5:30 PM
Subject: Re: FW: In re Clark - DDNo. 2021-D193

Phil:

Thank you for sending the FedEx Airbill.

Three people in my office including me and two assistants have put the tracking number from the airbill into
the FedEx tracking number search box and we get this response:  "No record of this tracking number can be
found at this time, please check the number and try again later. For further assistance, please contact
Customer Service.”

The airbill is filled out to not require a signature for delivery.

-----
Harry W. MacDougald
Caldwell, Carlson, Elliott & DeLoach, LLP
Two Ravinia Drive
Suite 1600
Atlanta, Georgia 30346
404-843-1956
Direct: 404-843-4109

From: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>
Date: February 11, 2022 at 4:48:29 PM
To: Harry MacDougald <hmacdougald@ccedlaw.com>
Subject:  FW: In re Clark - DDNo. 2021-D193 

Here is the information about the FedEx shipment.  We will still look at an
alternative way to transmit documents.

 

From: Angela Thornton <  
Sent: Monday, February 7, 2022 1:47 PM
To: Phil Fox < dcodc.org>; Jason Horrell <  Azadeh Matinpour
<
Subject: In re Clark - DDNo. 2021-D193

 

David sent the letter and the motions with all attachments to Resp’s Counsel, via
fedex.  Fedex shipping label is attached.  It will be delivered tomorrow morning

 

Angela
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FedEx Tracking ‘Track Another Shipment Hel
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Delivered

Tuesday, February 15,2022 at 8:06 am
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2/15/22, 10:19 AMDetailed Tracking

Page 2 of 3https://www.fedex.com/fedextrack/?trknbr=814880136300&trkqual=2459625000~814880136300~FX

FROM

WASHINGTON, DC US

TO

GA US

Travel History

Tuesday, February 15,
2022

8:06 AM GA Delivered

Package delivered to recipient address -

release authorized

6:15 AM MARIETTA, GA On FedEx vehicle for delivery

5:39 AM ATLANTA, GA At destination sort facility

3:48 AM MEMPHIS, TN Departed FedEx hub

12:17 AM MEMPHIS, TN Shipment arriving On-Time

12:05 AM MEMPHIS, TN Arrived at FedEx hub

MANAGE DELIVERY

Travel History Shipment Facts

Local Scan Time

TIME ZONE



2/15/22, 10:19 AMDetailed Tracking

Page 3 of 3https://www.fedex.com/fedextrack/?trknbr=814880136300&trkqual=2459625000~814880136300~FX

Monday, February 14,
2022

9:21 PM WASHINGTON, DC Left FedEx origin facility

4:13 PM WASHINGTON, DC Picked up

Expand History

Shipment Facts

TRACKING NUMBER

814880136300

SERVICE

FedEx First Overnight

WEIGHT

0.5 lbs / 0.23 kgs

TOTAL PIECES

1

TOTAL SHIPMENT WEIGHT

0.5 lbs / 0.23 kgs

TERMS

Shipper

SHIPPER REFERENCE

2621 D193

PACKAGING

FedEx Envelope

SPECIAL HANDLING SECTION

Deliver Weekday

SHIP DATE

2/14/22 

SHIPMENT-FACTS.COD-DETAIL

$0.00

STANDARD TRANSIT

2/15/22 before 8:30 am 

ACTUAL DELIVERY

2/15/22 at 8:06 am



Exh. 4 

Senator Durbin Letter to Office of 
Disciplinary Counsel, October 7, 2021 



RICHARD J. DURBIN. ILUNOIS. CHAIR 

PA 'TRICK J. LEAHY. VERMONT 
DIANNE FEINSTEIN, CALIFORNIA 
SHELIJON WHITEHOUSE. RHOOE ISLAND 
ANIY KLOBUCHAR. MINNESOTA 
CHRISTOPHER A. COONS. DELAWARE 
RICHARD BLUMENTHAL. CONNECTICUT 
MAZIE K. HIRONO. HAWAII 
CORY A. BOOKER. NEW JERSEY 
ALEX PADILlA. CALIFORNIA 
JON OSSOFF. GEORGIA 

CHARLES E. GRASSL.EV, IOWA 
LINDSEY O GRAHAM. SOUTH CAROLINA 
JOHN CORNYN. TEXAS 
MICHAELS. LEE. UTAH 
TED CRUZ. TEXAS 
BEN SASSE, NEBRASKA 
JOSHUA D HAWLEY. MISSOURI 
TOM COTTON. ARKANSAS 
JOHN KENNEDY. LOUISIANA 
THOM TILLIS. NORTH CAROLINA 
MARSHA BLACKBURN, TENNESSEE 

October 7, 2021 

Office of Disciplinary Counsel 
District of Columbia Court of Appeals 
51 5 5th Street N W 
Building A, Suite 117 
Washington, D.C. 2000 I 

tinitcd ~tares ~cnatc 
COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY 

WASHINGTON, DC 20510-6275 

Re: Request for Disciplinary Investigation of Jeffrey Bossert Clark 

To the Disciplinary Counsel: 

As the Chair of the U.S. Senate Judic iary Committee, I write to express my grave concern 
about actions taken by Jeffrey Bassett C lark that may constitute serious professional misconduct 
under the D.C. Rules of Professional Conduct. S ince January 202 1, the Committee has been 
investigating allegations that Mr. Clark a ided then-President Trump's efforts to enlist the U.S. 
Depattment of Justice (DOJ) in overturning the results of the 2020 Presidentia l e lection. After 
months of reviewing documents and interviewing key former DOJ personnel w ith firsthand 
knowledge of Mr. Clark's actions, the Committee has re leased the attached interim staff report 
(the " Report"). Based on the Report's findings, I respectfully request that the Office of 
Disciplinary Counsel open an investigation to determine whether Mr. C lark, who is a member of 
the D.C. Bar, v iolated applicable D.C. Rules of Professiona l Conduct and should be subj ect to 
disciplinary action. 

As further detailed in the Report, Mr. C lark attempted to enlist DOJ in President T rump' s 
effo1ts to overturn the results of the presidential e lection without ev idence or legal authority. In 
fu1t herance of this goal, Mr. C lark: 

• vio lated, blatantly and on multiple occasions, longstanding DOJ po lic ies designed to 
insulate the Department's investigations and prosecutions from partisan po litical 
infl uence by meeting w ith President Trump; 

• continua lly pressed DOJ leadership to public ly announce that there was corruption in the 
2020 general e lection and to urge swing-state legislatures to convene specia l legis lative 
sessions to appo int a lternate s lates of e lectors, despite be ing repeatedly to ld by DOJ 
leadership that his election fraud c laims were baseless and that DOJ lacked legal 
authority to pursue his proposed course of action; and 

• attempted to coerce then-Acting Attorney General Jeffrey Rosen into agreeing to his 
proposals by threatening Mr. Rosen w ith the prospect of replacing him as Attorney 
General. 



Lawyers adm itted to the D.C. Bar swear an oath "to support the Constitution of the 
United States." 1 It should go w ithout saying that attempts to subvert a free and fa ir election do 
not support the Constitution. 

The D.C. Bar defines misconduct as "[a]cts or omissions by an attorney ... which v iolate 
the attorney's oath of office or the rules or code of professional conduct currently in effect."2 

Mr. C lark's actions implicate several D.C. Rules of Professional Conduct. First, by using his 
official capacity as an Acting Assistant Attorney General to push DOJ to take official action 
based on verifiable falsehoods, Mr. Clark appears to have violated Rule l .2(e)'s prohibition 
against "counsel[ing] a client to engage, or assist[ing] a c lient, in conduct the lawyer knows is 
criminal or fraudulent." While Rule l .2(e) allows " lawyers to discuss the consequences of any 
proposed course of conduct w ith a client" and "assist a client to make a good-faith effort to 
determine the validity, scope, meaning, or application of the law," Mr. C lark's actions do not fit 
into this exemption. To the contrary, as the Report demonstrates, he repeatedly pressed DOJ 
leadership to take the extraordinary and unlawful step of intervening in states' appointment of 
e lectors based on fa lse c la ims of election fraud. Rule l .O(t) defines knowledge as "actual 
knowledge," which "may be inferred from circumstances." The American Bar Association' s 
Standing Committee on Ethics and Professional Responsibility has further c larified that actual 
knowledge "may be inferred from the circumstances, including a lawyer's w illful blindness to or 
conscious avoidance of facts." ABA Formal Op. 491 (2020). As the Report establishes, Mr. 
C lark should have known, and was given every opportunity to know, that the election fraud 
c laims he pushed were false. 

Mr. C lark also appears to have violated at least four of the prohibitions in Rule 8.4 
regarding professional misconduct. First, the verifiable falsehoods at the core of Mr. Clark' s 
efforts implicate Rule 8.4(c)'s prohibit ion of"conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or 
misrepresentation." Second, his repeated requests that Acting Attorney General Rosen endorse 
these fa lsehoods, and his suggestion that he wou ld decline an offer to replace Rosen as Acting 
Attorney General if Rosen agreed to pursue his proposal, implicate Rule 8.4(a)'s prohibition 
against knowingly assisti ng or inducing someone to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct. 
Third, Rule 8.4(e) prohibits a lawyer from "stat[ing] or imply[ing] an ability to influence 
improperly a government agency or official," and Mr. Clark attempted to improperly influence 
both DOJ's own leadership and several state legis latures. Finally, as a senior DOJ official who 
sought to improperly use DOJ's law enforcement powers on behalf of a political candidate and to 
overturn the election results, the totality of Mr. C lark' s effo11s implicate Rule 8.4(d)'s prohibition 
of"conduct that seriously interferes with the administration of justice." Other Rules may be 
similarly implicated. 

Mr. C lark' s misconduct does more than speak to his fitness as a lawyer; his activities, 
which were pa11 of a broader course of conduct by President Trump and his a llies to overturn the 
e lection, have had severe ram ifications for the rule of law. When a government lawyer, 

1 Attorney Oath of Admission to the District of Columbia Bar, available at 
ht tps :/ /www.dccourts.gov/s i tes/defa ult/ fi Jes/divisions pd fs/com mi ttee%2 0on%20adm iss ions%20 pd f/ Attorney Oath 
Statement Roll of Attorneys.pdf. 
2 Rules Governing the District of Columbia Bar, Rule XI, Section 2(b). 



particularly one entrusted with a high level of leadership in the nation ' s foremost law 
enforcement agency, commits serio us vio lations of professional conduct, such actions undermine 
the integrity of our justice system and erode public confidence in it. Public confidence is further 
eroded when serious misconduct comes to light only to be met w ith no consequences. Therefore, 
I submit this letter of compla int to respectfully request that the Office of the Disciplinary 
Counsel init iate an investigation and take appropriate disciplinary proceedings pursuant to Rule 
X I of the Rules Governing the District of Columbia Bar. 

I appreciate your prompt attention to this sensitive matter. The Committee is available for 
further consu ltation as needed. 

Sincerely, 

Richard J. Durbin 
Chair, U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary 

Enclosure 

cc: The Honorable Charles E. Grassley 
Ranking Member, U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary 
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w 
Bradley Weinsheimer 
Associate Deputy Attorney General 

Jeffrey B. Clark 
Lorton, VA 
Via email to Counsel 

Dear Mr. Clark: 

U.S. Department of Justice 

Office of the Deputy Attorney General 

Washington, D.C. 20530 

July 26, 2021 

The Department of Justice (Department) understands that you have been requested by the 
U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Oversight and Reform (House Oversight 
Committee), and the U.S. Senate Judiciary Committee to provide transcribed interviews to the 
Committees relating to your service as Assistant Attorney General for the Environment and 
Natural Resources Division and Acting Assistant Attorney General for the Civil Division. In 
these interviews, you are authorized to provide information you learned while at the Department 
as described more fully below. 

According to information provided to you and the Department by the House Oversight 
Committee, its focus is on "examining President Trump's efforts to pressure the Department of 
Justice (DOJ) to take official action to challenge the results of the presidential election and 
advance unsubstantiated allegations of voter fraud." 1 The House Oversight Committee has stated 
that they wish to ask you questions "regarding any efforts by President Trump and others to 
advance unsubstantiated allegations of voter fraud, challenge the 2020 election results, interfere 
with Congress's count of the Electoral College vote, or overturn President Biden's certified 
victory. "2 

Based upon information provided to you and to the Department from the Senate Judiciary 
Committee, the Department understands that the scope of that Committee's inquiry is very 
similar to that of the House Oversight Committee. The letter to the Department dated January 
23, 2021, explained that the Senate Judiciary Committee is conducting oversight into public 
reporting about "an alleged plot between then-President Donald Trump and [you] to use the 
Department of Justice to further Trump's efforts to subvert the results of the 2020 presidential 
election"-events that the letter described as raising "deeply troubling questions regarding the 
Justice Department's role" in those purported efforts.3 In addition, the Senate Judiciary 

1 Letter from Carolyn B. Maloney, Chairwoman, House Committee on Oversight and Reform, to Jeffrey B. Clark, 
June 14, 2021. 

z Id. 
3 Letter from Richard J. Durbin et al., Senate Judiciary Committee, to Monty Wilkinson, Acting Attorney General, 
Dep't of Justice, January 23, 2021, at I, https://www.judiciary.senate.gov/press/dem/releases/senate-judiciary-
committee-democrats-seek-answers-about-dojs-role-in-trumps-scheme-to-overtum-the-2020-election. 



Committee has represented to the Department that the scope of its interview will cover your 
knowledge of attempts to involve the Department in efforts to challenge or overturn the 2020 
election results. This includes your knowledge of any such attempts by Department officials or 
by White House officials to engage in such efforts. The Committee has further represented that 
the time frame for its inquiry will begin following former Attorney General William Barr's 
December 14, 2021, resignation announcement. 

Department attorneys, including those who have left the Department, are obligated to 
protect non-public information they learned in the course of their work. Such information could 
be subject to various privileges, including law enforcement, deliberative process, attorney work 
product, attorney-client, and presidential communications privileges. The Department has a 
longstanding policy of closely protecting the confidentiality of decision-making communications 
among senior Department officials. Indeed, the Department generally does not disclose 
documents relating to such internal deliberations. For decades and across administrations, 
however, the Department has sought to balance the Executive Branch's confidentiality interests 
with Congress's legitimate need to gather information. 4 

The extraordinary events in this matter constitute exceptional circumstances warranting 
an accommodation to Congress in this case. Congress has articulated compelling legislative 
interests in the matters being investigated, and the information the Committees have requested 
from you bears directly on Congress's interest in understanding these extraordinary events: 
namely, the question whether former President Trump sought to cause the Department to use its 
law enforcement and litigation authorities to advance his personal political interests with respect 
to the results of the 2020 presidential election. After balancing the Legislative and Executive 
Branch interests, as required under the accommodation process, it is the Executive Branch's 
view that this presents an exceptional situation in which the congressional need for information 
outweighs the Executive Branch's interest in maintaining confidentiality. 

The Executive Branch reached this view consistent with established practice. Because of 
the nature of the privilege, the Department has consulted with the White House Counsel's Office 
in considering whether to authorize you to provide information that may implicate the 
presidential communications privilege. The Counsel's Office conveyed to the Department that 
President Biden has decided that it would not be appropriate to assert executive privilege with 
respect to communications with former President Trump and his advisors and staff on matters 
related to the scope of the Committees' proposed interviews, notwithstanding the view of former 
President Trump's counsel that executive privilege should be asserted to prevent testimony 
regarding these communications. See Nixon v. Administrator of General Servs., 433 U.S. 425, 
449 (1977) ("[I]t must be presumed that the incumbent President is vitally concerned with and in 
the best position to assess the present and future needs of the Executive Branch, and to support 

4 See Letter for Rep. John Linder, Chairman, Subcommittee on Rules and Organization, from Robert Raben, 
Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legislative Affairs at 2 (Jan. 27, 2000) ("Linder Letter") ("In implementing 
the longstanding policy of the Executive Branch to comply with Congressional requests for information to the fullest 
extent consistent with the Constitutional and statutory obligations of the Executive Branch, the Department's goal in 
all cases is to satisfy legitimate legislative interests while protecting Executive Branch confidentiality interests."). 

2 



invocation of the privilege accordingly."); see also id (explaining that the presidential 
communications privilege "is not for the benefit of the President as an individual, but for the 
benefit of the Republic") (internal citation omitted). 

Therefore, given these extraordinary circumstances, including President Biden's 
determination on executive privilege, and having reviewed the scope of the Committees' 
requested interviews, the Department authorizes you to provide unrestricted testimony to the 
Committees, irrespective of potential privilege, so long as the testimony is confined to the scope 
of the interviews as set forth by the Committees and as limited in the penultimate paragraph 
below.5 This accommodation is unique to the facts and circumstances of this particular matter 
and the legislative interests that the Committees have articulated. 

Consistent with appropriate governmental privileges, the Department expects that you 
will decline to respond to questions outside the scope of the interview as outlined above and 
instead will advise the Committees to contact the Department's Office of Legislative Affairs 
should they seek information that you are unable to provide. 

Please note that it is important that you not discuss Department deliberations concerning 
investigations and prosecutions that were ongoing while you served in the Department. The 
Department has a longstanding policy not to provide congressional testimony concerning 
prosecutorial deliberations. If prosecutors knew that their deliberations would become "subject 
to Congressional challenge and scrutiny, we would face a grave danger that they would be 
chilled from providing the candid and independent analysis essential to just and effective law 
enforcement or, just as troubling, that they might err on the side of prosecution simply to avoid 
public second-guessing." Linder Letter. Discussion of pending criminal cases and possible 
charges also could violate court rules and potentially implicate rules of professional conduct 
governing extra-judicial statements. We assume, moreover, that such Department deliberations 
are not within the scope of the requested testimony as defined by the Committees. 

Accordingly, consistent with standard practice, you should decline to answer any such 
questions and instead advise the Committees to contact the Department's Office of Legislative 
Affairs if they wish to follow up on the questions. Responding in such a way would afford the 
Department the full opportunity to consider particular questions and possible accommodations 
that may fulfill the Committees' legitimate need for information while protecting Executive 
Branch confidentiality interests regarding investigations and prosecutions. 

5 You are not authorized to reveal information the disclosure of which is prohibited by law or court order, including 
classified information and information subject to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 6(e). 

3 
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CALDWELL, CAR.LSON, 
ELLIOTT & DELOACH. LLP 

ll~Rll.Y W M1\CDQUG~LD 
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, lTORNEYS AT I.AW 

TWO RAVINIA DflJ\/E 

5UIHl600 

ATLANTA. GEORGIA 303,tG 

TELEPHONE 404·8~3-1956 

J;'.CSIMILE 404-643-2737 

November 5, 2021 

Hon. Bennie G. Thompson, Chairman 
January 6th Select Committee 
U.S. House of Representatives 
Longworth House Office Building 
Washington, DC 20515 

Dear Representative Thompson: 

h Id Iii CCEDlaw.com 
www.CCEr>law,com 

I have been retained to represent Jeffrey Clark in the investigative matters pending 
before your Committee. 1 

Despite disparaging and misleading media narratives, Mr. Clark is not a politician 
and has never sought notoriety or press attention beyond what was necessary to 
discharge his duties. Indeed, despite serving more than four years during the Bush 
Administration's Justice Department from 2001-2005 and more than two years during the 
Trump Administration's Justice Department from 2018-2021, he was never once during 
those six-plus years of service asked to come before a congressional committee for 

1 This letter focuses on the issues surrounding the executive privilege, though there are additional legal 
objections, including those of a structural constitutional nature, that we will interpose in good faith as well 
to Mr. Clark testifying, should doing so become necessary. We also reserve all of Mr. Clark's individual 
rights under the Bill of Rights, though invocation of those rights is also not necessary at this time, as 
executive privilege and related privileges should be a sufficient threshold ground not to testify in response 
to the subpoena as it is currently framed. 
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oversight purposes, even though he litigated and supervised highly controversial cases. 2 

He had a winning record, recovered billions of dollars for the fisc, successfully defended 
numerous agency rulemakings of extreme complexity, and personally briefed and 
argued many cases-exemplary service. He was confirmed in October 2018 with 
bipartisan support in the Senate-just one part of his distinguished 25-year legal career. 

Now, after his most recent, 26-month-plus tenure in government ending in 
January 2021, he wants nothing more than to rehun to ordinary life and law practice, 
without being subjected to selective anonymous leaks and press attacks. Yet he finds 
himself involuntarily caught up in a novel conflict that includes both significant inter-
branch3 and cross-presidential 4 features to whicl1 we must provide a response. 

The main purpose of this letter is this: Because former President Trump was 
properly entitled, while he held office, to the confidential advice of lawyers like Mr. Clark, 
Mr. Clark is subject to a sacred trust-one that is particularly vital to the constitutional 
separation of powers. As a result, any attempts-whether by the House or by the current 
President-to invade that sphere of confidentiality must be resisted. Nothing less will 
comport with both Mr. Clark's obligations to former President Trump and· with Mr. 
Clark's etl1ical obligations as an attorney. The general category of executive privilege, 
the specific categories of the presidential communications, law enforcement, and 
deliberative process privileges, 5 as well as atton1ey-client privilege and the work product 
doctrine, all harmonize on this point. Most importantly, core matters of constih1tional 
principle hang in the balance. 

2 For instance, Mr. Clark was integral to defending former President Trump's decision to withdraw from 
the Paris Climate Agreement, to resisting improper judicial interference with the Census, to crafting and 
then personally defending, in litigation, the first major reform in four decades of the National 
Environmental Policy Act's regulations, and to shepherding through the judicial process various agency 
actions protecting the southern border with Mexico against incursions. This work was unpopular in some 
political quarters but at all times was consistent with law and with his client agencies' policy decisions. 

3 A single House of Congress vs. former President Trump. 

4 President Biden vs. former President Trump, i.e., the current President vs. the immediately past President. 

5 Indeed, Mr. Clark's work was integral to the United States' win in the Supreme Court's most recent 
deliberative process case, United States Fish & Wildlife Serv. v. Sierra Club, Inc., 141 S. Ct. 777 (2021). 
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Mr. Clark's position as a legal advisor to the President late in 2020 and early 2021 was 
particularly sensitive because he was a Senate-confirmed Justice Department leader with 
significant high-profile litigation and governmental experience, making it natural for a 
President to seek out and consult his views. 6 We trust that members of Congress of all 
stripes would agree that it is indisputable that American Presidents need to be able to 
consult, as they see fit, with their Senate-confirmed appointees. The principle goes both 
ways. Whomever succeeds President Biden, for instance, should not be able to expose to 
public scrutiny advice provided to President Biden by his advisors. Establishing 
precedent to the contrary would deeply chill the vigorous Executive Branch and energetic 
President the Founders envisioned. See Federalist Paper No. 70 (Hamilton) (Mar. 18, 
1788) ("Energy in the executive is a leading character in the definition of good 
government."), available at https:1/tinynrl.com/ ep7fhz9. Without that energy and ability 
to be candid, presidential advisors would be reduced to bland, tasteless creatures, and 
the prospect of innovative advice would be stifled. 

For these reasons, as amplified below, and with due respect to the Committee, Mr. 
Clark has come with me today, to present this letter of objection. Mr. Clark will, of course, 
abide by a future judicial decision(s) appropriately governing all underlying disputes 
with finality, but for now he must decline to testify as a threshold matter because the 
President's confidences are not his to waive. 

1. Since August 2, 2021, when a pivotal letter was sent on behalf of former 
President Trump to Mr. Clark (Attachment), there have been several cardinal 
developments: 

(1) On September 23, 2021, this Committee subpoenaed senior White House officials 
Mark Meadows and Daniel Scavino, senior Pentagon official Kashyap Patel, and 

6 Beginning in November 2018, Mr. Clark headed one of the Justice Department's seven litigating Divisions 
(the approximately 112 year-old Environment & Natural Resources Division, which has existed for most of 
the 151 years of the Justice Department's history). And later, in light of his excellent service in the 
Environment Division during the last Administration, Mr. Clark was also tapped by the Attorney General 
in the Fall of 2020 to run a second of those seven litigating Divisions as the Acting Assistant Attorney 
General for the Civil Division. 
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Stephen Bannon, making especially clear to Mr. Clark that executive privilege had 
been invoked in light of the violation of a condition set forth in the August 2, 2021, 
letter from former President Trump's counsel, as explained in more detail below; 

(2) On or about October 7, 2021, former President Trump invoked executive privilege 
and instn1cted these four presidential advisors not to comply with the Committee's 
requests/ 

(3) Additionally, on September 29, 2021, the Committee had subpoenaed 11 other 
individuals to appear for questioning; and, most importantly, 

(4) The former President took the critical step of bringing suit against the Committee, 
among others, in Trump v. Thompson, Civ. A. No. 21-2769 (0.0.C. Oct. 18, 2021). In this 
case, President Trump asserts executive privilege and is objecting to the Committee's 
request to the Archivist of the United States to produce records of his administration. 

The August 2 letter from your former colleague, Georgia Congressman Douglas A. 
Collins, stated to Mr. Clark that "President Trump continues to assert that the non-public 
information the Committees seek is and should be protected from disclosure by the 
executive privilege," and that this "executive privilege applicable to communications 
with President Trump belongs to the Office of the Presidency, not to any individual 
President, and President Biden has no power to unilaterally waive it." Attachment at 1. 

The Collins letter also quoted the Supreme Court's recognition that "the privilege 
is not for the benefit of the President as an individual, but for the benefit of the Republic." 
Id. (quoting Nixon v. Administrator of Gen. Servs., 433 U.S. 425,449 (1977)). That decision 
provides that the purpose of the privilege is to "give his advisers some assurance of 
confidentiality," so that the "President [ can] expect to receive the full and frank 
submission of facts and opinions upon which effective discharge of his duties depends." 
Id. Additionally, the August 2 letter noted that an earlier July 26, 2021 letter to Mr. Clark 

7 See Jacqueline Alemany, et al., Trump Lawyer Tells Former Aides Not to Cooperate with Jan. 6 Committee, 
WASH. PosT (Oct. 7, 2021), available at htt-ps://1 .washingtonppsl.com/politics/2021 /l0/07/trump-l;:iwyer-
tcll~tQ.tmcr-ai - , t- op cral -wilh-'sin-6-comrniltcc/. 
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from the current Justice Department had selectively edited a quotation out the Nixon 
decision, leaving off the key sentence that "the privilege survives the individual 
President's tenure." Attachment at 2 (quoting Nixon, 433 U.S. at 449) (emphasis added). 
See also Prof. Saikrishna Prakash, Trump Is Right: Former Presidents Can Assert Executive 
Privilege, Wash. Post. (Oct. 29, 2021), available at https://tinyurl. om/yl cpz94w. 

I concur with that assessment by the former President and his counsel. Were any 
successor occupant of the office of President able to waive claims of executive privilege 
asserted by his or her predecessors, the principal purpose of the privilege would be 
defeated, to the detriment of the Executive Branch, to the separation of powers, and to 
the proper functioning of government as envisioned by the Constitution, relevant judicial 
precedent, and long traditions of inter-branch accommodation. This is particularly true 
when, as here, President Biden's purported waivers over recent months may have been 
informed by partisan political purposes. This is suggested by the haste with which Mr. 
Bi den prejudged Mr. Bannon' s invocation of the privilege on behalf of former President 
Trump. 8 Executive privilege has fundamental importance to and constitutional 
significance in the operation of government. Waivers of executive privilege should 
therefore be considered only with a gravity and solemnity commensurate with their 
deployment, and should not be influenced by workaday political grievances or by 
grudges lingering from past political controversies, even bitter ones. 

8 See Katherine Fung, Biden's Comments Could Fumble DOJ Prosecution of Steve Bannon: Here's How, 
NEWSWEEK (Oct. 21, 2021) ("referring to those, like Bannon, who have refused to comply with the subpoena 
to testify before the January 6 committee [and] asked if they should face prosecution, Biden said, 'I do, 
yes."'); Donald Judd & Rachel Janfaza, Biden Says DOJ Should Prosecute Those Who Defy January 6 Committee 
Subpoenas, CNN (Oct. 16, 2021) (same); see also id. (quoting Press Secretary Jen Psaki as arguing, contrary to 
law, that ultimate decisions would be made by the Justice Department because "[t]hey're an independent 
agency .... "), available at httJ_2s:/lw .... rw.ncwswcck.com/biJcns-commcnts-cou..ld-fumblc-doj-P-rosccution-
steve-bannon-hcres-how-1641428. While President Biden later acknowledged he had been wrong to make 
the statement, the damage in the public mind had already been done. See Kaanita Iyer, Biden Says He Was 
Wrong to Suggest Those Who Defy Subpoenas from January 6 Committee Should Be Prosecuted, CNN, available at 
b..liP-s://edilion.cnn.com/?021 /J 0/21 /politics/january-6-,ioc-bidcn-town-hall/indcx.html (Oct. 22, 2021). For, 
as the Committee is aware, the President is the chief law enforcement officer of the United States and the 
Constitution does not mention the Attorney General by name. The Constitution simply contemplates that 
there will be a "principal Officer in each of the executive Departments." U.S. Const. art. II, sec. 2. Nor do 
any statutes establish the Department of Justice as an "independent agency." 
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2. Other former Department of Justice officials who received the Collins letter 
have apparently interpreted its concluding paragraph to mean that the former President 
had waived the privilege on a blanket basis or somehow otherwise greenlighted their 
testimony to Committees looking into assertedly similar issues prior to this Committee 
beginning its work. We disagree with that interpretation. No fair reading of the Collins 
letter can conclude that it waives any privileges as to an official like Mr. Clark, especially 
after the key contingency set out in the letter had been triggered: 

Nonetheless, to avoid further distraction and without in any way otherwise 
waiving the executive privilege associated with the matters the executive 
privilege associated with the matters the Committees are purporting to 
investigate, President Trump will agree not to seek judicial intervention to 
prevent your testimony or the testimony of the five other former Department 
officials ... who have already received letters from the Department similar to 
the July 26, 2021 letter you received, so long as the Committees do not seek 
privileged information from any other Trump administration officials or 
advisors. 

Attachment at 2 (emphasis added). The condition in the emphasized language has been 
triggered because the Committee sought privileged information from multiple other 
Trump administration officials or advisors before Mr. Clark was subpoenaed on October 
13, 2021. 

Our position is simple and is dictated by the plain text of the letter. The Collins 
letter does not waive privilege as to Mr. Clark. Even before the contingency triggered by 
your Committee seeking information from other Trump Administration officials had 
occurred, at best the Collins letter indicated that former President Trump would agree 
himself not to seek judicial intervention on the pre-contingency state of the facts. That is 
not remotely the same as authorizing testimony or waiving executive privilege. All 
portions of the Collins letter prior to the concluding paragraph clearly invoked privilege. 
Nor could Mr. Collins' indicating that the former President would not file suit at an 
earlier time act to relieve Mr. Clark of his ethical obligations. 

And surely, once the Committee issued subpoenas to Messrs. Meadows, Scavino, 
Patel and Bannon on September 23, the assertion of executive privilege set forth in all of 
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the other paragraphs of that letter applied with special force to Mr. Clark. This is because 
Congress has, in fact, sought privileged information from Messrs. Meadows, Scavino, 
and Patel as they are all, no doubt, "other Tn1mp administration officials." In short, even 
former President Trump's statement that he would not go to court in August 2021 was 
expressly conditional, and the Committee's issuance of the Meadows, Scavino, and Patel 
subpoenas has caused the failure of that condition. Therefore, especially after the 
triggering of the contingency, the letter simply cannot be read as an unconditional waiver 
as to Mr. Clark or the others named in the final paragraph. 

Accordingly, particularly under the present circumstances, the Collins letter 
expressly informs Mr. Clark that President Trump is asserting and not waiving executive 
privilege with respect to the Committee's pursuit of information from Mr. Clark. 
President Trump's assertion of his privileges with respect to the Committee's subpoena 
to Mr. Clark is confirmed in Trump v. Thompson, et al, U.S.D.C. D.C. 1:21-cv-02769-TSC, 
by footnote 2 of his brief in support of ~s application for a preliminary injunction: 

The Committee also sought testimony and documents from several individuals, 
some of whom were serving in the Trump Administration in January and others 
who were not. To preserve all privileges applicable to him and the Presidency, 
President Trump sent a letter to a number of these individuals, instructing them 
to preserve any and all relevant and applicable privileges, including without 
limitation the presidential communications and deliberative process privileges 
and attorney-client privilege, all to the extent allowed by law. 

Id., Doc. 5, p. 1, n.2. The Committee of course has actual notice of this contention since it 
is a party to that litigation. 

Mr. Clark thus has no choice but to comply with President Trump's assertion of 
executive privilege and related privileges. 

3. Since September 7, 2021, staff on the Select Committee has been in contact 
with Mr. Clark's former attorney, Robert Driscoll, about the possibility of Mr. Clark 
giving a transcribed interview to the Committee regarding communications with and 
advice given to former President Tn1mp during the last few months of his 
Administration. 
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In good faith and while he was engaging in legal research and keeping apprised 
of related actions by the Committee and other parts of Congress, Mr. Clark had been 
requesting and reviewing documents from the Department of Justice pursuant to 28 
C.F.R. § 16.300. And, if the federal judicial system orders Mr. Clark directly or produces 
final and clearly applicable precedent in (a) related case(s) indicating that Mr. Clark must 
testify, he would resume that process consistent with other legal strictures. But in line 
with our research and study, events subsequent to September 7 have convinced me that 
the only proper course of action for Mr. Clark now is to stand on the privilege position 
articulated to him on August 2 by former President Trump and affirmed in his October 
19, 2021 filing in Trump v. Thompson. 

This is for three reasons: (1) first and foremost because former President Trump, 
as noted, took heavy step of invoking the privilege in federal court litigation on October 
18 against the Committee in its official capacity, indicating that the inter-branch 
accommodation process had broken down; (2) because the September 23 subpoenas to 
Messrs. Meadows, Scavino, and Patel unmistakably triggered the contingency in the 
Collins letter, seemingly removing the basis for any potential accommodation agreement 
with the Committee premised on it cabining the scope of its inquiry; and (3) because the 
former President acted to invoke the privilege as to those advisors and Mr. Bannon. 

4. I am aware that other former top officials in the Department of Justice have 
provided testimony to Congress, despite the former President's assertion of privilege and 
despite the failure of the conditions in the Collins letter. As the privilege was not theirs 
to waive, at least without greater clarity (such as a court order with finality or a 
comprehensive arrangement entered into between former President Trump and 
Congress, where the latter agreed not to seek "privileged information from any other 
Trump administration officials or advisors"), it is unclear to me how their testimony 
could be consistent with former President Trump's assertion of executive privilege. 
Former President Trump holds that privilege, not them. Be that as it may, in the present 
circumstances, the fact that other former officials may have testified, rightly or wrongly 
at the time, does not cl1ange Mr. Clark's obligations in light of the recent positions taken 
by former President Trump in the Collins letter and in Trump v. Thompson. Indeed, D.C. 
Bar Ethics Opinion #288 has advised that, even in response to a congressional subpoena 
(and therefore, by parity of reasoning, in response to a voluntary request as well), a 
"lawyer has a professional responsibility to seek to quash or limit the subpoena on all 
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available, legitimate grounds to protect confidential documents and client secrets." See 
also American Bar Association's Committee on Ethics and Professional Responsibility, 
Formal Opinion 94-385 (1994). 

It is improper to put Mr. Clark in a vise between this Committee and its claimed 
enforcement powers on the one hand and his constih1tional and ethical obligations on the 
other, especially while there is a pending lawsuit to determine President Trump's 
privilege objections. To apply such pressure to Mr. Clark is to present him with a 
potential Hobson' s choice in a manner not countenanced by the long history of inter-
branch accommodation over Congressional requests for information from the Executive 
Branch. The Constitution is the ultimate source of our law and this Committee is bound 
to respect government-wide constitutional boundaries, including respecting the 
prerogatives of the coequal Executive Branch. 

Additionally, the claim made by Senate counsel at the outset of the relevant 
testimonies of at least one of these other Department of Justice officials, namely, that the 
Collins letter was a "letter of nonobjection ... on behalf of former President Trump," 9 if it 
were ever correct there (and it is not because nothing in the letter waives privilege or 
states a general principle of non-objection), is obviously incorrect as to Mr. Clark at the 
present time. The Collins letter quite explicitly (1) asserts that the former President has 
not waived claims of executive privilege; (2) asserts the privilege; and (3) at most, even 
from this Committee's potential perspective, fixes conditions that as to Mr. Clark are no 
longer met. 

In light of the foregoing, I have advised my client that, at this time and based on 
these most up-to-date factual developments, he is duty-bound not to provide testimony 
to your Committee covering information protected by the former President's assertion of 
executive privilege. Accordingly, beyond showing up today to present this letter as a 
sign of his respect for a committee of the House of Representatives, albeit one not formed 
in observance of the ordinary process of minority participation, Mr. Clark cannot answer 
deposition questions at this time. No adverse inferences can or should be drawn from 
Mr. Clark accepting my advice. His doing so defends the Republic's interest in the 

9 Transcript, available at https://w\ w.judicic1ry.scnate.gov/imo/111t.;dic1/tloc/R lswi"l,,20Transcripl.ptlf at 6-7 
(Aug. 7, 2021). 
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separation of powers. As noted, Mr. Clark is not a politician but he is a strong defender 
of the Constitution, stemming from his political beliefs as an unapologetic conservative-
beliefs protected by the First Amendment. 

5. In addition to the foregoing, I must also point out that the vast majority of 
the document requests in the subpoena sent to Mr. Clark are duplicated in the requests 
for documents sent by the Committee to the National Archives presently at issue in the 
Trump v. Thompson litigation. It is entirely proper, therefore, to defer compliance with the 
Committee's subpoena to Mr. Clark until that litigation is resolved. 

Moreover, the documents subpoenaed from Mr. Clark are instead largely in the 
possession of the Department of Justice or the Archives. Mr. Clark left his work papers at 
the Department of Justice when he resigned in anticipation of the January 20, 2021 
inauguration of President Biden. Based on prior actions, beginning with those of the 
House Oversight Committee, we also believe that your Committee has access to Mr. 
Clark's government records, making the imposition on us of organizational work, such 
as Bates-stamping documents, unduly burdensome. If the Committee could please 
confirm this one way or the other, it may obviate any claim of demonstrably critical need 
for Mr. Clark to re-produce documents the Committee already has, should that become 
necessary at some fuhue point. 

6. Accordingly, I respectfully urge the Committee to recognize that the best 
and most regular course in light of the latest developments would be to pause the request 
for the testimony of Mr. Clark (likely along with the requests for the testimony of Messrs. 
Meadows, Scavino, and Patel, who would seem similarly situated) pending resolution of 
the Trump v. Thompson litigation. That will provide important guidance from the Article 
III branch of government to referee this inter-branch dispute, including, among other 
things, the entwined issue of whether the current President can purport to waive the 
former President's executive privilege over the former President's objection. As Justice 
Powell remarked in concurrence in Nixon, "[t]he difficult constih1tional questions lie 
ahead." 433 U.S. at 503. See also id. at 491 (Blackmun, J., concurring) (noting that 
historically some presidential transitions had been "openly hostile," and hoping that the 
stah1te under consideration there "did not become a model for the disposition of the 
papers of each president who leaves office at a time when his successor or the Congress 
is not of his political persuasion."). A pause, as we here request, would also show proper 
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comity both to Executive Branch's interests ( considered holistically and not as defined 
myopically to embrace only the views of the current President) and to the Judicial 
Branch's role in resolving cases and controversies. As Nixon indicates, "[t]he 
confidentiality necessary to this exchange [ of advice and confidences between a President 
and an advisor] cannot be measured by the few months or years between the submission 
of the information and the end of the President's tenure; the privilege is not for the benefit 
of the President as an individual, but for the benefit of the Republic." 433 U.S. at 449. 

7. I am also compelled to note the disconnect between the scope and purpose 
of the Committee's authorizing resolution and the information sought from Mr. Clark. 
The Committee's scope revolves around events at the Capitol on January 6, 2021. The 
Committee would not appear to be seeking to question Mr. Clark about January 6, 2021 
and no media reporting has connected him to those events. Mr. Clark had nothing to do 
with the January 6 protests or the incursion of some into the Capitol. He has informed 
me he worked from home that day to avoid wrestling with potential street closures to get 
to and from his office at Main Justice. Nor did Mr. Clark have any responsibilities to 
oversee security at the Capitol or have the ability to deploy any Department of Justice 
personnel or resources there. Indeed, Acting Attorney General Rosen testified almost 6 
months ago that a January 3, 2021 Oval Office meeting involving him and Mr. Clark, inter 
alia, did not relate to January 6. See House Oversight and Reform Committee Holds 
Hearing on Jan. 6 Riot at U.S. Capitol, available at 
htl-p ·://...,vv,.rw.y utub •.com/watch?v=719UGi8d ng, beginning at circa the one-hour, 15-
minute mark (Rep. Connolly) (streamed May 12, 2021).10 That should alone be sufficient 
for Mr. Clark to be excluded from a January 6 inquiry. 

Indeed, just about a week after January 6, Mr. Clark gave an "exit interview" to a 
reporter for Bloomberg Law that condemned the individuals who forcibly went into the 
Capitol and engaged in violence, noting that some of them may have been moved by mob 
psychology (Mr. Clark specifically remembers referencing Gustave Le Bon), besmirching 
by mere association the far more numerous peaceful protesters exercising their First 

10 Q. Rep. Connolly: "Did you meet with the President at the White House on January 3rd?" A. Former 
Acting AG Rosen: "I did." Q. Rep. Connolly: "You did, but you decline to tell us what the nature of that 
conversation was about, is that correct?" A. Former Acting AG Rosen: "I can tell you it did not relate to 
the planning and preparations for the events on January 6th." 
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Amendment rights. As a clear example of mainstream media bias, however, the report 
later published about that interview omitted Mr. Clark's remarks on January 6, even 
though the reporter had repeatedly sought Mr. Clark's views on the topic during the 
course of the interview. 11 

For all of these reasons, the information and testimony sought by the Committee 
as applied to Mr. Clark in particular are outside the scope of the Committee's charter and 
are neither proper subjects of the Committee's subpoena, nor any subsequent attempt to 
enforce the subpoena. 

Finally, I would kindly request a response to the objections set out in this letter, 
which may include a proposal to me by the Committee as to a more limited scope of 
inquiry narrowed to January 6-something that I would be happy to engage on to try to 
reach an agreement. And for the avoidance of all doubt, we reiterate that, during 
continued discussions and at all times, we reserve all other objections as may be 
applicable under the circumstances. See supra n. l. 

Enc. 
cc: Jeffrey Bossert Clark 

11 See Ellen Gilmer, Top Official Steps Down from DO f's Environment, Civil Divisions, BLOOMBERG LAW (Jan. 
14, 2021), available at hllps://n • ?,blo mbcrglaw.com/whik'-( llrlr-c1nd- riminr1l-law/top-officir1l-stt;ps-
down-frorn-do: -cnvironn c.nt-civil-divisions?ct I tcxL=<1rt·i lc-rclat d. 
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We represent former President Donald J. Trump and write concerning requests sent to 
you by the U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Oversight and Reform and the 
U.S. Senate Judiciary Committee to provide transcribed interviews on matters related to your 
service as Deputy Attorney General and Acting Attorney General during President Trump's 
administration. We also understand that, as set forth in its July 26, 2021, letter to you, the U.S. 
Department of Justice stated that President Biden decided to waive the executive and other 
privileges that protect from disclosure non-public information concerning those matters and has 
authorized you to provide such information. 

Please be advised that the Department's purported waiver and authorization are unlawful, 
and that President Trump continues to assert that the non-public information the Committees 
seek is and should be protected from disclosure by the executive privilege. The executive 
privilege applicable to communications with President Trump belongs to the Office of the 
Presidency, not to any individual President, and President Biden has no power to unilaterally 
waive it. The reason is clear: if a President were empowered unilaterally to waive executive 
privilege applicable to communications with his or her predecessors, particularly those of the 
opposite party, there would effectively be no executive privilege. To the extent the privilege 
would continue to exist at all, it would become yet another weapon to level the kind of 
unjustifiable partisan political attacks the Democrat-controlled administration and Committees 
are seeking to level here. 

As the Supreme Court held in Nixon v. Administrator of General Services, 433 U.S. 425 
(1977) - where, like here, the then-current administration did not support a former President's 
asse1tion of executive privilege - the executive privilege is crucial to Executive Branch decision-
making: 

Unless [the President] can give his advisers some assurance of confidentiality, a 
President could not expect to receive the full and frank submissions of facts and 
opinions upon which effective discharge of his duties depends. The confidentiality 
necessa1y to this exchange cannot be measured by the few months or years 
between the submission of the information and the end of the President's tenure; 
the privilege is not for the benefit of the President as an individual, bul for the 
benefit of the Republic. 



Nixon v. Administrator of General Services, 433 U.S. 425, 448-49 (1977). The Depattment's July 
26 letter to you quoted this decision but left out the very next sentence in the opinion: "Therefore, 
the privilege survives the individual President's tenure." Id. at 448-49 (quoting, and adopting, 
Brief for the Solicitor General on Behalf of Federal Appellees) ( emphasis added). 

Here, it is clear that even though President Biden and the Department do not know the 
nature or content of the non-public information the Committees seek, they have not sought or 
considered the views of the President who does know as to whether the confidentiality of that 
information at issue should continue to be protected. Such consideration is the minimum that 
should be required before a President waives the executive privilege protecting the 
communications of a predecessor. See Office of Legal Counsel Memorandum on Applicability 
of Post-Employment Restrictions in 18 U.S.C. § 207 to a Former Government Official 
Representing a Former President or Vice President in Connection with the Presidential Records 
Act, June 20, 2001, at 5 ("[A]lthough the privilege belongs to the Presidency as an institution 
and not to any individual President, the person who served as President at the time the 
documents in question were created is often particularly well situated to determine whether the 
documents are subject to a claim of executive privilege and, if so, to recommend that the 
privilege be asserted and the documents withheld from disclosure."). 

Nonetheless, to avoid further distraction and without in any way otherwise waiving the 
executive privilege associated with the matters the Committees are purporting to investigate, 
President Trump will agree not to seek judicial intervention to prevent your testimony or the 
testimony of the five other former Department officials (Richard P. Donoghue, Patrick 
Hovakimian, Byung J. "BJay" Pak, Bobby L. Christine, and Jeffrey B. Clark) who have already 
received letters from the Department similar to the July 26, 2021 letter you received, so long as 
the Committees do not seek privileged information from any other Trump administration 
officials or advisors. If the Committees do seek such information, however, we will take all 
necessary and appropriate steps, on President Trump's behalf, to defend the Office of the 
Presidency. 
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF FULTON COUNTY
STATE 0F GEORGIA

WARREN M. SCHMITZ, JR., )
)

PSaPU[Pff, )
) CP]PS Ac[PVU FPSe NV.

]. )
) 2020CV342969

RICHARD L. BARRON, IN HIS )
OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS FULTON )
COUNTY DIRECTOR )
REGISTRATION & ELECTIONS AND )
FULTON COUNTY BOARD OF )
REGISTRATION AND ELECTIONS, )

)
DefeUdaU[Z. )

)

AFFIDAVIT OF GREGG PHILLIPS IN SUPPORT OF VERIFIED AMENDED
PETITION TO CONTEST RESULTS OF HOUSE DISTRICT 52 ELECTION

PeYZVUaSS` aWWeaYed befVYe Te, [Oe \UdeYZPgUed UV[aY` W\bSPc, d\S` a\[OVYPaed b` Sa^ [V

adTPUPZ[eY Va[OZ, GYegg POPSSPWZ, ^OV bePUg d\S` Z^VYU, deWVZeZ aUd Z[a[eZ aZ fVSSV^Z:

S.

M` UaTe PZ GYegg POPSSPWZ.

2.

I aT V]eY [Oe age Vf 21 `eaYZ, aUd I aT \UdeY UV SegaS dPZabPSP[` ^OPcO ^V\Sd WYe]eU[ Te

fYVT gP]PUg [OPZ [eZ[PTVU`. I Oa]e WeYZVUaS RUV^Sedge Vf [Oe fac[Z YecP[ed OeYePU.

3.

TOPZ Af퐒da]P[ PZ gP]eU PU Z\WWVY[ Vf [Oe VeYP퐒ed ATeUded Pe[P[PVU [V CVU[eZ[ ReZ\S[Z Vf

HV\Ze DPZ[YPc[ 52 ESec[PVU 퐒Sed PU [Oe abV]e-Z[`Sed ac[PVU VU NV]eTbeY 25, 2020 ([Oe ᱦPe[P[PVUᱧ).

4.

(00594334, S



Exhibit C to Amended and Restated Complaint

I Oa]e WeYZVUaS RUV^Sedge Vf [Oe fac[Z cVU[aPUed PU [OPZ Af퐒da]P[, aUd aT SegaSS`

cVTWe[eU[ aUd caU [eZ[Pf` [V Z\cO fac[Z.

5.

ReW. DebVYaO SPScV_ aUd SOea RVbeY[Z cVTWe[ed PU [Oe NV]eTbeY 3, 2020 GeUeYaS

ESec[PVU fVY HD 52 ([Oe ᱦESec[PVUᱧ). TOe ceY[PfPed [V[aSZ Vf[Oe ESec[PVU ZOV^ed MZ. RVbeY[Z aOead

b` 377 ]V[eZ, ^P[O a 퐒UaS [aSS` Vf 17,069 ]V[eZ fVY MZ. RVbeY[Z aUd 16,692 fVY ReW. SPScV_.

6.

I V^U a da[a Zec\YP[` cVTWaU` caSSed OWSec GYV\W ^OeYe I aT [Oe TaUagPUg WaY[UeY. IU

addP[PVU, I aT [Oe CEO aUd FV\UdeY VfCV]eYMe SeY]PceZ, a GeVYgPa baZed OeaS[OcaYe [ecOUVSVg`

cVTWaU` fVc\Zed VU [Oe \Ze Vf cVTWSe_ aSgVYP[OTZ PU OeaS[OcaYe 퐒UaUce.

7.

I Oa]e TVYe [OaU [OYee decadeZ Vf e_WeYPeUce adTPUPZ[Ya[PVU, WYVgYaT PU[egYP[`, WYVQec[

TaUageTeU[, OeaS[OcaYe, eSec[PVUZ, aUd da[a dYP]eU decPZPVU TaRPUg.

8.

M` cVTWaU` OaZ de]eSVWed fVYT\SaZ [V aZZeZZ [Oe 퐒[, YPZR aUd YeSPabPSP[` Vf da[a aUaS`[PcZ

acYVZZ T\S[PWSe PUd\Z[YPeZ.

9.

M` gYV\W aUd I \Ze de[aPSed aUaS`[PcaS aWWYVacOeZ [V PU]eZ[Pga[e cVTWSe_ PZZ\eZ, e]aS\a[e

[Oe YPZR PU decPZPVUZ, aUd b\PSd TeaZ\Yed ZVS\[PVUZ.

10.

We VbZeY]e, YeZeaYcO aUd PU[eYWYe[ YeZ\S[Z \ZPUg aWWSPca[PVUZ aUd da[a RUV^U [V Sa^

eUfVYceTeU[, WYVgYaT PU[egYP[`, X\aSP[` cVU[YVS, aUd eSec[PVU WYVfeZZPVUaSZ.

(00594334. I
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11.

M` aWWYVacO [V aUaS`[PcZ PZ TeaZ\Yed aUd baSaUced aUd cVTTVU WYac[Pce PU [OPZ PUd\Z[Y`.

12.

I aT aU e_WeY[ PU \ZPUg SaYge da[a Ze[Z PU 퐒'a\d cVU[YVS, X\aSP[` cVU[YVS aUd PdeU[P[`

YeZVS\[PVU PU ]V[PUg YeSa[ed caZeZ aUd aUaS`ZPZ.

13.

PYe]PV\ZS`, I Oa]e [eZ[P퐒ed PU 10 [YPaSZ aZ aU e_WeY[ ^P[UeZZ. O\Y aWWYVacO aUd aSgVYP[OTZ

Oa]e beeU \Zed PU OPgO WYV퐒Se ]V[eY YPgO[Z caZeZ aYg\ed PU [Oe S\WYeTe CV\Y[ Vf [Oe UUP[ed S[a[eZ.

IU addP[PVU, V\Y Te[OVdZ aUd aSgVYP[OTZ Oa]e beeU \Zed PU [Oe YeZVS\[PVU Vf 43 TPSSPVU PUdP]Pd\aS

caZeZ.

14.

I aT UV[ bePUg cVTWeUZa[ed UVY Oa]e beeU VffeYed aU`[OPUg Vf ]aS\e PU e_cOaUge fVY [OPZ

af퐒da]P[ VY WV[eU[PaS [eZ[PTVU`.

15.

IU NV]eTbeY, [Oe OPSEC [eaT de]eSVWed a O`WV[OeZPZ [Oa[ baSSV[ [Yaf퐒cRPUg PZ Vcc\YYPUg

PU YeSa[PVU [V ceY[aPU UVU-WYV퐒[ VYgaUPaa[PVUZ aUd dYVW bV_eZ PU GeVYgPa.

16.

OPSEC W\YcOaZed cVTTeYcPaSS` a]aPSabSe da[a ^VY[O aWWYV_PTa[eS` $200,000.00 fVY \Ze

PU [Oe aUaS`ZPZ WeYfVYTed.

S7.

I Se]eYaged cVTTeYcPaSS` a]aPSabSe OPZ[VYPc aUd UeaY YeaS [PTe beOa]PVYaS TVbPSP[` da[a [V

aZZPZ[ a cSPeU[ VYgaUPaa[PVU, TY\e [Oe VV[e, PU aUaS`aPUg Wa[[eYUZ Vf eSec[PVU fYa\d PU [Oe fVYT Vf

baSSV[ OaY]eZ[PUg PU Re` ba[[SegYV\Ud Z[a[eZ, PUcS\dPUg GeVYgPa.

(00594334. )
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18.

SWecP퐒caSS`, I \Zed cVTTeYcPaSS` a]aPSabSe da[a, PU addP[PVU [V WYVWYPe[aY` fVYT\SaZ,

aSgVYP[OTZ, aUd PU[eSSec[\aS WYVWeY[` de]eSVWed b` Te.

19.

FYVT [OPZ da[a aUd [Oa[ ga[OeYed [OYV\gO V\Y YeZeaYcO, I ^aZ [OeU abSe [V de]eSVW aUd [eZ[

[Oe O`WV[OeZPZ [V YeacO [Oe cVUcS\ZPVUZ.

20.

FPYZ[, I geVfeUced aSS 27 PdeU[P퐒ed VYgaUPaa[PVUZ Vf퐒ceZ bacR [V Oc[VbeY 1, 2020 aUd

OaY]eZ[ed aSS de]PceZ VbZeY]ed VU VY UeaY [Oe WYeTPZeZ PUZPde [Oe geVfeUceZ eZ[abSPZOed b` V\Y

aUaS`[PcaS [eaT.

21.

TOeU, I VbZeY]ed 1.2 [YPSSPVU TVbPSe de]Pce ZPgUaSZ V]eY a WeYPVd Vf 97 da`Z fYVT 10/1/2020

[OYV\gO 1/5/2021.

22.

TV e_ec\[e [OPZ WYVQec[, I WYVceZZed 25 [eYab`[eZ Vf Ya^ da[a PU VYdeY [V OaY]eZ[ 17,000

\UPX\e TVbPSe de]PceZ.

23.

FYVT [Oe 17,000 \UPX\e TVbPSe de]PZeZ, I ^aZ f\Y[OeY abSe [V WPUWVPU[ [Oe [V[aS U\TbeY

\UPX\e [aYge[ed TVbPSe de]PceZ [V 279. B` aWWS`PUg ceY[aPU X\aSP[` TaUageTeU[ [ecOUPX\eZ, I ^aZ

abSe [V eSPTPUa[e aUV[OeY 37 de]PceZ ca\ZPUg \UacceW[abSe Se]eSZ Vf faSZe WVZP[P]eZ. TOe 퐒UaS

U\TbeY Vf\UPX\e de]PceZ [aYge[ed ^aZ 240.

24.

(00594334. )
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GeVfeUcPUg ^aZ \Zed aYV\Ud Z\ZWec[ed baSSV[ OaY]eZ[PUg VYgaUPaa[PVUZ ^OPcO [OeU aSSV^ed

[Oe e_WeY[ [V \Ze de]Pce-ceU[YPc TVbPSe ad]eY[PZPUg IDZ aUd beOa]PVYaS da[a aUaS`[PcZ [V WPU 240

[aYge[ de]PceZ aUd 퐒PY[OeY eZ[abSPZO a Wa[[eYU Vf [Ya]eS PU aUd V\[ Vf [OeZe SVca[PVUZ.

25.

GeVfeUcPUg ^aZ aSZV \Zed [V cYea[e ]PY[\aS WeYPTe[eYZ aYV\Ud 36 F\S[VU CV\U[` dYVW bV_eZ

aUd 309 dYVW bV_eZ PU [Oe A[SaU[a Te[YV aYea fYVT 10/ 1/20 [OYV\gO ESec[PVU Da` 1/5/21.

26.

GeVfeUcPUg WeYPTe[eYZ ^eYe \Zed [V PdeU[Pf` [Oe WYeZeUce Vf [Oe 240 [aYge[ed de]PceZ aZ

cSVZe aZ 18 PUcOeZ fYVT 28 dYVW bV_eZ PU a ZPUgSe da`.

27.

TOPZ PZ [Oe ZaTe [`We Vf da[a aUaS`[PcZ aUd aSgVYP[OTZ [Oa[ aYe \Zed b` Sa^ eUfVYceTeU[

aUd [Oe PU[eSSPgeUce cVTT\UP[` acYVZZ [Oe cV\U[Y` aUd aYV\Ud [Oe ^VYSd.

28.

A [V[aS Vf ePgO[ Te[YV-A[SaU[a cV\U[PeZ ^eYe aUaS`aed d\YPUg [OPZ WYVceZZ.

29.

F\S[VU CV\U[` cVTWYPZed TVYe [OaU VUe-OaSf Vf [Oe dYVW bV_ ]PZP[Z b` [Oe 240 [aYge[ed

de]PceZ.

30.

AUaS`ZPZ Vf OV[SPUe, ^OPZ[SebSV^eY aUd TedPa YeWVY[Z YeZ\S[ed PU [Oe PdeU[P퐒ca[PVU Vf 28

VYgaUPaa[PVUZ ^OVZe addYeZZeZ Ye]eaSed a OPgO Se]eS Vfac[P]P[` PU]VS]PUg [Oe 240 [aYge[ed de]PceZ.

31.

FYVT [OeYe, I ^aZ abSe [V Ta[cO [OeZe de]PceZ ^P[OPU 100 fee[ Vf aU VYgaUPaa[PVU aUd 100

fee[ Vf [eU VY TVYe dYVW bV_eZ, ^OPcO ga]e Te a [V[aS Vf 240 UUPX\e De]PceZ Vf IU[eYeZ[.

(00594334. )
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32.

I [OeU SVVRed a[ de]PceZ [Oa[ ^eYe bV[O fV\Ud a[ aU VYgaUPaa[PVU aUd [OeU aSZV a[ aU` gP]eU

dYVW bV_ PU F\S[VU CV\U[`, GA aUd acYVZZ [Oe Te[YV-A[SaU[a aYea.

33.

IU VYdeY [V TaRe Z\Ye [Oa[ T` [eaT Y\Sed V\[ aU` faSZe WVZP[P]eZ, faSZe Uega[P]eZ, VY aU`

accPdeU[aS Ta[cOeZ (Z\cO aZ 퐒Ye퐒gO[eYZ VY WVSPce Vf퐒ceYZ), ^e YaU [OPZ da[a fYVT Oc[VbeY [V

JaU\aY`.

34.

UWVU dVPUg [OPZ, ^e fV\Ud [Oa[ [OPZ ]V[e [Yaf퐒cRPUg ^aZ VUS` dVUe PU Oc[VbeY aUd

DeceTbeY.

35.

TOPZ OeSWed [V Y\Se V\[ aU`VUe ^OV Ta`be ^VYRed UeaYb` a dYVW bV_ SVca[PVU aZ [OPZ

[Yaf퐒cRPUg VUS` Vcc\YYed PU [Oe TVU[O SeadPUg \W [V eacO eSec[PVU.

36.

FVY W\YWVZeZ VfHD-52, [OPZ ]V[e [Yaf퐒cRPUg ^aZ e_ec\[ed PU [Oe TVU[O Vf Oc[VbeY aSVUe.

37.

TV cVYYVbVYa[e [OPZ da[a, ^e Oad [Oe de[eYTPUe ^OeYe [Oe baSSV[Z ^eYe cVTPUg fYVT [Oa[

^eYe bePUg deWVZP[ed PU[V [OeZe dYVW bV_eZ.

38.

TOe 퐒YZ[ O`WV[OeZPZ ^aZ UPS Z[VYeZ.

39.

TV [eZ[ [OPZ O`WV[OeZPZ, T` [eaT geVfeUced 18 UPS Z[VYeZ \UdeY [Oe [OeVY` [Oa[ [OPZ ^aZ

[Oe Z[aY[PUg WVPU[ Vf ^OeYe [OeZe [aYge[ de]PceZ ^V\Sd gV aUd WO`ZPcaSS` WPcR \W baSSV[Z.

(MNSBJ. )
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40.

TOe beOa]PVYaS ceSSWOVUe da[a [OeU cVYYVbVYa[ed [OPZ da[a ZOV^PUg 240 de]PceZ ^eYe ^P[OPU

[Oe ]PY[\aS bV\UdaYPeZ, eZ[abSPZOed b` [Oe geVfeUceZ, Vf VUe VY TVYe [aYge[ed VYgaUPaa[PVUZ, [^V VY

TVYe UPS Z[VYeZ, aUd 10 VY TVYe dYVW bV_eZ ^P[O [Oe WeYPVd Vf Z[aY[PUg Oc[VbeY 1, 2020 aUd

e_[eUdPUg [OYV\gO NV]eTbeY 3, 2020.

41.

FYVT eacO YeZWec[P]e UPS Z[VYe, eacO [aYge[ de]Pce ^aZ [OeU [YacRed aZ OeadPUg bacR [V

[Oe SVca[PVU Vf [OePY YeZWec[P]e VYgaUPaa[PVU, VY ᱦZ[aZO OV\ZeZᱧ, aZ ^e YefeY [V [OeT aZ.

Acc\Yac` Vf CeSS POVUe Da[a

42.

TOe da[a [YacRZ TV]eTeU[ Vf eacO de]Pce aZ Vf[eU aZ e]eY` fV\Y (4) ZecVUdZ aUd aZ cSVZe

a[ ePgO[eeU (18) PUcOeZ [V aU` YeZWec[P]e ZWecP퐒c SVca[PVU, PUZPde VY V\[ZPde Vf a geVfeUce ^P[OPU

[Oe W\YcOaZed Q\YPZdPc[PVU.

43.

FVY YefeYeUce, [OPZ PZ [Oe ZaTe [`We Vf da[a aUd [YacRPUg TecOaUPZTZ [Oa[ aYe \Zed [V OeSW

PdeU[Pf` [eYYVYPZ[Z [OYV\gOV\[ [Oe ^VYSd, O\TaU [Yaf퐒cRPUg cYPTPUaSZ, aUd dY\g [Yaf퐒cReYZ a[ [Oe

bVYdeY.

44.

TOe ZWecP퐒c ceSS WOVUe da[a aYe ZPgUaSZ [Oa[ caU be [YacRed bacR fV\Y (4) `eaYZ.

45.

TOeYe aYe aWWYV_PTa[eS` 27,000 ceSS WOVUe aWWSPca[PVUZ [Oa[ [YacR, Za]e aUd TaYRe[

SVca[PVU da[a.

CVUcS\ZPVUZ fVY HD-SS aUd HD-SS

(00594334. S
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46.

AYV\Ud 7% Vf [Oe [V[aS ]V[eZ PU F\S[VU CV\U[`, GA (VY 36,000 Vf [Oe [V[aS ]V[eZ PU F\S[VU)

^eYe PU퐓\eUced b` [OPZ baSSV[ OaY]eZ[PUg ZcOeTe a퐒eY [aRPUg PU[V cVUZPdeYa[PVU [Oe aTV\U[ Vf

[aYge[ed de]PceZ aUd [Oe fYeX\eUc` Vf dYVW bV_ ]PZP[Z.

47.

FVY HD-S S, eZ[PTa[ed 1,700-2,000 ]V[eZ PU퐓\eUced b` OaY]eZ[PUg.

48.

FVY HD-52, eZ[PTa[ed 1,700ᱞ2,000 ]V[eZ PU퐓\eUced b` OaY]eZ[PUg.

49.

I Oa]e cVTe [V [Oe cVUcS\ZPVU [Oa[ [OPZ e_ac[ ]V[e [Yaf퐒cRPUg ZcOeTe affec[ed [Oe YeZ\S[Z Vf

[Oe 2020 NV]eTbeY GeUeYaS ESec[PVU fVY HV\Ze DPZ[YPc[ 52 PU GeVYgPa.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NOT.

[SIGNATURE ON FOLLOWING PAGE]

(00594334. )
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SUBSCRIBED TO AND SWORN BEFORE ME
ON THIS 8[O DAY OF APRIL, 2021 IN THE
PRESENCE OF:^^gᱢ¢
NOTARY PUBLIC

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES:

10/18/2024

(WSSGBSAI )

(7Te 14(4ᱢ 94%;?ᱧ

GREGG PHILLIPS

NV[aYPaed VUSPUe \ZPUg a\dPV-]PdeV cVTT\UPca[PVU

Pa[YPcPa A GSaZWVY

NOTARY PUBLIC
STATE OF NEVADA
AWW[. NV.12-9064-1

E_WPYeZ Oc[VbeY18.2024
Q:



Exhibit 2 



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
CIVIL DIVISION 

 
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 

EXXON MOBIL CORP., et al., 
 
Defendants. 

 

 
 
 
 
2020 CA 002892 B 
Judge Alfred S. Irving, Jr. 
 
 

 
ORDER G5A17I1G DEFE1DA176¶ M27I21 72 67A< PROCEEDINGS 

Before the Court is a Motion to Stay Proceedings, filed by Defendants Exxon Mobil 

Corporation, ExxonMobil Oil Corporation, Chevron Corporation, Chevron U.S.A., Inc., Shell 

PLC (f/k/a/ Royal Dutch Shell PLC), Shell USA, Inc. (f/k/a/ Shell Oil Company), BP P.L.C., and 

BP America Inc. (collectively ³Defendants´) on March 20, 2023.  This matter was previously 

removed to the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia on July 17, 2020.1  In February 

2023, the District Court remanded the case.  Defendants ask this Court to stay proceedings in this 

matter pending resolution of the appeal of the District Court¶s remand order in the U.S. Court of 

Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit2 and disposition the petitions for writs of certiorari 

on similar cases pending before the Supreme Court.3  Given the pendency of the appeal in the 

federal Court of Appeals, which heard oral arguments on May 8, 2023, the Court will stay all 

proceedings in this case for a period of sixty days. 

 
1 Case number 1:20-cv-01932, before the Hon. Timothy J. Kelly.   
2 Case number 22-7163, before the Hons. Gregory G. Katsas, Neomi Rao, and Florence Y. Pan.   
3 The Court notes that the Supreme Court has denied six petitions for writs of certiorari on 
similar issues.  See Pl.¶s Notice of Suppl. Authority (April 26, 2023); Pl.¶s Notice of Suppl. 
Authority (May 17, 2023). 



ACCORDINGLY, it is by the Court this 31st day of May 2023, hereby 

ORDERED that Defendants¶ Motion to Stay Proceedings is GRANTED; and it is 

further  

ORDERED that the proceedings in this case are STAYED for sixty days in light of the 

pending appeal before the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit. 

 
 
_________________________  

           Judge Alfred S. Irving, Jr. 

Copies to: 
Matthew K. Edling 
Anna C. Haac 
Katherine H. Jones 
Quentin C. Karpilow 
Kathleen M. Konopka 
Hassan A. Zavareei 
matt@sheredling.com 
ahaac@tzlegal.com 
katie@sheredling.com 
quentin@sheredling.com 
kate@kateandviren.org 
hzavareei@tzlegal.com 
Counsel for Plaintiff District of Columbia 
 
James W. Cooper 
james.w.cooper@arnoldporter.com 
Ethan G. Shenkman 
Dep¶t Justice – ENRD Appellate 
PO Box 23795 
Washington, DC 20026 
Counsel for Defendants BP America Inc. and BP P.L.C. 
 
Theodore J. Boutrous 
Thomas G. Hungar 
tboutrous@gibsondunn.com 
thungar@gibsondunn.com 
Counsel for Defendants Chevron Corporation and Chevron U.S.A. Inc. 
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Justin Anderson 
Craig A. Thompson 
Theodore V. Wells 
janderson@paulweiss.com 
cathompson@venable.com 
twells@paulweiss.com 
Counsel for Defendants Exxon Mobil Corp. and Exxonmobil Oil Corporation 
 
David C. Frederick 
Kellogg, Huber, Hansen, Todd & Evans, PLLC 
1615 M. Street NW STE. 400 
Washington, DC 20036 
Minsuk Han 
mhan@kellogghansen.com  
Vetan Kapoor 
vkapoor@kellogghansen.com  
Grace W. Knofczynski 
gknofczynski@kellogghansen.com  
Daniel S. Severson 
dseverson@kellogghansen.com  
James M. Webster, III 
jwebster@kellogghansen.com  
Counsel for Defendants Shell PLC (f/k/a Royal Dutch Shell PLC) and Shell USA, Inc. (f/k/a 
Shell Oil Company) 
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